Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/reviewsmr Community address: www.elsevier.com/locate/mutres



CrossMark

influence cancer and cancer therapy? Challenges, opportunities and models

How do changes in the mtDNA and mitochondrial dysfunction

M.W. van Gisbergen^a, A.M. Voets^{a,b}, M.H.W. Starmans^{a,c}, I.F.M. de Coo^d, R. Yadak^d, R.F. Hoffmann^e, P.C. Boutros^{c,f,g}, H.J.M. Smeets^b, L. Dubois^{a,*}, P. Lambin^a

^a Department of Radiation Oncology (MaastRO) Lab, GROW – School for Oncology and Developmental Biology, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Universiteitssingel 50/23, PO Box 616, 6200 MD Maastricht, The Netherlands

^b Department of Clinical Genomics, GROW – School for Oncology and Developmental Biology, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Universiteitssingel 50/23, PO Box 616, 6200 MD Maastricht, The Netherlands

^c Informatics and Bio-computing Program, Ontario Institute for Cancer Research, 101 College Street, Suite 800, Toronto, ON M5G 0A3, Canada

^d Department of Neurology, Erasmus MC, Dr. Molewaterplein 50, 3015 GE Rotterdam, The Netherlands

^e European Research Institute for the Biology of Ageing, University Medical Centre Groningen, University of Groningen, Deusinglaan 1, NL-9713 AV Groningen, The Netherlands

^fDepartment of Medical Biophysics, University of Toronto, 101 College Street, Suite 800, Toronto, ON M5G 0A3, Canada

^g Department of Pharmacology & Toxicology, University of Toronto, 101 College Street, Suite 800, Toronto, ON M5G 0A3, Canada

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 August 2014 Received in revised form 11 January 2015 Accepted 12 January 2015 Available online 20 January 2015

Keywords: Cancer Mitochondrial DNA OXPHOS Variation Model Mutation

ABSTRACT

Several mutations in nuclear genes encoding for mitochondrial components have been associated with an increased cancer risk or are even causative, e.g. succinate dehydrogenase (SDHB, SDHC and SDHD genes) and iso-citrate dehydrogenase (IDH1 and IDH2 genes). Recently, studies have suggested an eminent role for mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) mutations in the development of a wide variety of cancers. Various studies associated mtDNA abnormalities, including mutations, deletions, inversions and copy number alterations, with mitochondrial dysfunction. This might, explain the hampered cellular bioenergetics in many cancer cell types. Germline (e.g. m.10398A>G; m.6253T>C) and somatic mtDNA mutations as well as differences in mtDNA copy number seem to be associated with cancer risk. It seems that mtDNA can contribute as driver or as complementary gene mutation according to the multiple-hit model. This can enhance the mutagenic/clonogenic potential of the cell as observed for m.8993T>G or influences the metastatic potential in later stages of cancer progression. Alternatively, other mtDNA variations will be innocent passenger mutations in a tumor and therefore do not contribute to the tumorigenic or metastatic potential. In this review, we discuss how reported mtDNA variations interfere with cancer treatment and what implications this has on current successful pharmaceutical interventions. Mutations in MT-ND4 and mtDNA depletion have been reported to be involved in cisplatin resistance. Pharmaceutical impairment of OXPHOS by metformin can increase the efficiency of radiotherapy. To study mitochondrial dysfunction in cancer, different cellular models (like ρ^0 cells or cybrids), in vivo murine models (xenografts and specific mtDNA mouse models in combination with a

Corresponding author. Tel.: +31 43 388 2909; fax: +31 43 388 4540.

E-mail addresses: m.vangisbergen@maastrichtuniversity.nl (M.W. van Gisbergen), an.voets@maastrichtuniversity.nl (A.M. Voets), maud.starmans@maastrichtuniversity.nl (M.H.W. Starmans), i.decoo@erasmusmc.nl (I.F.M. de Coo), r.yadak@erasmusmc.nl (R. Yadak), r.f.hoffmann@umcg.nl (R.F. Hoffmann), paul.boutros@oicr.on.ca (P.C. Boutros), bert.smeets@maastrichtuniversity.nl (H.J.M. Smeets), ludwig.dubois@maastrichtuniversity.nl (L Dubois), philippe.lambin@maastro.nl (P. Lambin).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2015.01.001

1383-5742/© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/ 4.0/).

Abbreviations: ATP, adenosine triphosphate; OXPHOS, oxidative phosphorylation system; mtDNA, mitochondrial DNA; ECT, electron transport chain; nDNA, nuclear DNA; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SODs, superoxide dismutase; MnSOD, manganese superoxide dismutase; GSH, glutathione; GSSG, glutathione disulfide; HIF, hypoxia inducible factor stabilization; SDH, succinate dehydrogenase; RCCs, renal cell carcinoma; TFAM, mitochondrial transcription factor A; SNPs, single nucleotide polymorphisms; rCRS, revised Cambridge Reference Sequence; MT-ND4, NADH dehydrogenase subunit 4; ρ⁰, rho-zero; IR, ionizing radiation; AMPK, adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase; 2-DG, a glucose analogue, 2-deoxyglucose; Etbr, ethidium bromide; NDUFS4, NADH dehydrogenase ubiquinone Fe-S protein 4; Tp, thymidine phosphorylase; Bcl-2, B-cell lymphoma 2; MCT1, monocarboxylate transporter 1; MPCs, mitochondrial pyruvate carriers.

spontaneous cancer mouse model) and small animal models (*e.g. Danio rerio*) could be potentially interesting to use. For future research, we foresee that unraveling mtDNA variations can contribute to personalized therapy for specific cancer types and improve the outcome of the disease. © 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND

license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction: the cancer's cell energy supply							
2.	Mutations in nuclear-encoded mitochondrial genes can cause cancer							
3.	Mitochondrial DNA mutations and cancer	19						
	3.1. Genetic insight into mtDNA	19						
	3.1.1. mtDNA characteristics	19						
	3.1.2. Mitochondrial DNA maintenance	19						
	3.1.3. mtDNA dynamics	19						
	3.2. Germline mtDNA mutations associated with cancer							
	3.3. Somatic mtDNA mutations related to cancer							
	3.4. Changes in mtDNA copy number and its association with cancer	21						
4.	mtDNA and cancer treatment implications	23						
	4.1. Chemotherapy	23						
	4.2. Radiation therapy	23						
	4.3. Mitochondrial function interventions in cancer therapy	24						
5.	Opportunities and pitfalls in studies using mtDNA models							
	5.1. In vitro mtDNA models	24						
	5.2. Mitochondrial animal models	25						
	5.3. OXPHOS inhibitors in cellular models for therapeutic interventions	25						
6.	Future prospects	25						
	6.1. Detecting mtDNA mutations	26						
	6.2. Identification of potential drug targets	26						
7.	Conclusions	26						
	Acknowledgements							
	References	26						

1. Introduction: the cancer's cell energy supply

In normal physiology, mitochondria are very important in the cell as they produce most of the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) *via* the oxidative phosphorylation system (OXPHOS), which is a necessary energy supply for cellular processes.

The OXPHOS system consists of five protein complexes (complex I–V). All complexes are partly encoded by the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), except for complex II, which is completely nuclear encoded [1]. The OXPHOS system also consists of electron carriers that are situated in the inner mitochondrial membrane (Fig. 1B) [2]. Approximately 0.15-2% of the electrons that enter the electron transport chain (ETC) [3] can escape the OXPHOS cycle, resulting in the formation of superoxide. Increased exposure to this OXPHOS-related superoxide may not only affect the nearby located mtDNA but also the nuclear DNA (nDNA), proteins and lipids, resulting in impaired proteins and/or enhanced reactive oxygen species (ROS) production [4]. mtDNA mutations can lead to a decreased efficiency of the ETC and can cause more ROS production [5,6]. It has been shown both in vitro and in vivo that the OXPHOS system and OXPHOS-related superoxide can have a major influence on tumor progression [7]. As the electron transport chain is the most important site of ROS generation, mutations in mtDNA can cause more ROS production [8]. Evidence suggests when mitochondrial integrity is compromised by excessive ROS formation or mtDNA instability, cancer progression is enhanced. Increased ROS levels and oxidative damage are observed in fibroblasts of patients with mtDNA mutations [6]. To protect against ROS, cells have an antioxidant network from which important antioxidant enzyme groups are catalases, glutathione peroxidases, thioredoxins, peroxiredoxins, glutathione transferases and superoxide dismutases (SODs). SODs are capable of catalyzing the dismutation of superoxide into hydrogen peroxide and oxygen [9]. One of these SOD family members, manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD)(Fig. 1B), is located in the matrix of mitochondria [10]. Many types of human cancer cells have reduced MnSOD activity compared to their originated cells [11]. Increased MnSOD expression was able to suppress tumor cell growth and tumor formation in MCF7, A172R, U118, SCC25 and DU145 cells [12]. It has been suggested that MnSOD is a tumor suppressor gene [13] and that mutations found in its promoter region could explain the reduced MnSOD activity [14]. Additionally, also antioxidants are involved in this network. The hydrophilic non-protein thiol, glutathione (GSH), is an important ROS scavenger. In a cell, GSH mainly exits in its reduced form, but is able to oxidize into glutathione disulfide (GSSG), with a ratio between 30:1 and 100:1. However, this ratio can decrease upon oxidative stress [15]. Additionally, GSSG can be converted back into GSH driven by glutathione reductase, the catalyzer for this reaction [16]. An inadequate antioxidant response, where antioxidants are not able to maintain 'normal' physiological ROS levels, will lead to a vicious circle of ROS production and create cellular damage [6,17].

Warburg observed in 1927 that cancer cells rely less on the OXPHOS system, but rather on glycolysis for ATP production and therefore produce high amounts of lactate, even in the presence of oxygen. This phenomenon is known as the Warburg effect, or aerobic glycolysis [18]. Many cancer types have a tendency to be highly glycolytic and mitochondria in cancers cells also show altered cristae, membrane composition and membrane potential [4,19], resulting in an aberrant mitochondrial function influencing ROS production and apoptosis [4,20]. ROS production can be increased due to aberrant mitochondrial function causing cells to be more prone to apoptosis by activating the mitochondrial permeability transition pore [21–23]. However, increased apoptosis could also be independent of ROS as observed in for instance the mutator mouse model [24]. In cancer, inhibition of factors initiating apoptosis could



Fig. 1. Global representation of the OXPHOS system and the link to glycolysis in a cell. (A) Overview of the mitochondrial DNA. The genes coding for subunits of OXPHOS complex I are ND1-ND6 and ND4L. Genes for cytochrome c oxidase (complex IV) are COI-COIII. The gene encoding for Cytochrome B of complex III abbreviated with Cyt B. Additionally the subunits of Complex V (ATP synthase) are ATPase 6 and 8 abbreviated with A6 and A8 respectively. The 22 tRNAs are indicated with a single letter. The two ribosomal RNAs encoded by the mtDNA are 12S and 16S. The displacement loop is represented as D-loop and contains sequences for initiation for replication and transcription including the origin of heavy-strand replication (OH). The light strand replication origin is indicated by OL. The position of the Light strand promoter is shown as LSP and the position of the heavy-strand promotor as HSP. (B) Overview of OXPHOS system. When glucose enters the cell it is converted to glucose-6-phosphate, after which it undergoes glycolysis. The final step of glycolysis is the formation of pyruvate and reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH). Pyruvate can be either transformed into lactate and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) or can be transported immediately into the mitochondria. This transport is mediated by a mitochondrial pyruvate carrier (MPC) which transports pyruvate across the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM), the intermembrane space (IMS) and the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) into the mitochondrial matrix, where pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) catalysis it is converted into acetyl coenzyme A (acetyl CoA). At the same time, the MPC transports hydroxide out of the mitochondria. Acetyl CoA is able to enter the Krebs cycle, where organic acid oxidation takes place and results in succinate production as part of the Krebs cycle and NADH. Electrons from NADH can enter the electron transport chain (ETC), formed by complex I, complex II, complex III and complex IV (I-IV). CI is also known as NADH dehydrogenase/NADH ubiquinone oxidoreductase, the largest of the oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) complexes, and is one of the starting points of enrolling the electrons into the ETC [5]. The ETC transports electrons through the IMM, toward coenzyme Q (Q), after which they are transferred to complex III (III). The electrons can also skip CI and be transported via flavin containing enzyme complexes directly toward Q [2]. Another route for electron donation to the ETC is via complex II, succinate dehydrogenase/succinate ubiquinone oxidoreductase (II), where succinate is reduced and electrons are transferred toward coenzyme Q and complex III (III). Via complex III and cytochrome c (C), electrons are moved toward CIV. During electron transport, a proton gradient is formed over the IMM by CI, CIII and CIV, which drives protons into the mitochondrial matrix via, CV, ATP synthase (V) with concomitant production of ATP [2,260]. All complexes combined are called OXPHOS. In total, OXPHOS can produce up to 36 mol of ATP per mol of glucose [261]. Additionally reactive oxygen species can be formed which can be transferred into H₂O₂ by manganese superoxide dismutases (MnSOD). H₂O₂ and glutathione can be transformed into H₂O and oxidized under the influence of glutathione peroxidase (GPx). Via glutathione reductase (GR) and nicotinamide (NNT) eventually NAD+ can be formed again.

drive cells toward an actively proliferating state with ROS escalation and DNA damage. The paradox between ROS and apoptosis, in aging or cancer has been extensively reviewed by Wallace [22,25]. Mitochondrial dysfunction can be observed in tumors, particularly in those that are aggressive and growing rapidly [26,27]. Simonnet et al. compared mitochondrial enzymes and DNA contents in renal cell carcinoma (RCC) to normal kidney tissue. Mitochondrial impairment was increased from the less aggressive to the most aggressive RCCs and correlated with a considerably decreased content of OXPHOS complexes [27]. To maintain optimal ATP levels, some tumor cells are able to stimulate the glycolysis pathway upon pharmacological inhibition of the OXPHOS system. In contrary, after inhibition of glycolysis, the OXPHOS system cannot compensate for the loss of ATP production in these same cells [28,29]. This is, however, not universal as other tumor cell lines are still capable of maintaining high ATP contents when they are deprived of glucose [30,31]. The extent of changes in mitochondrial respiratory capacity seems to depend on the tumor type and its micro-environmental characteristics, such as hypoxia and hormones [32–34]. Adaptation of these processes might affect the tumor responsiveness to therapies, which points to a potential therapeutic target for new cancer therapies.

2. Mutations in nuclear-encoded mitochondrial genes can cause cancer

Next to the conventional cancer causing mutations (*e.g. TP53* encoding for p53 which is involved in proliferation, apoptosis and DNA repair [35–37]), some cancers (*e.g.* paraganglioma) are found to be associated with a mutation in one of the nuclear mitochondrial genes encoding for OXPHOS subunits or parts of the Krebs cycle.

Patients suffering from this disease have a dysfunctional succinate dehydrogenase (*SDH*), better known as complex II, which

is composed of four subunits. Whereas mutations in subunit A are mostly responsible for Leigh's disease (a rare neurometabolic disorder), mutations in subunits B, C or D mainly cause paraganglioma [38–41]. In a xenograft study studying a *SDHC* missense mutation it was found that mice formed benign tumors comparable with paragangliomas [41]. In 2 other studies investigating families with paragangliomas carrying mutations in *SDHD* [39] or *SDHC* [40] a causative role was found for these mutations and a tumor suppressor function for the genes was suggested [39,40].

Nevertheless, a family with mutated *SDHA* was recently reported to have paraganglioma as well [42]. A proposed mechanism in patients could be that mitochondrial ROS increases and more oxidative damage occurs. This could result in oncogenic transformation as occurs for paragangliomas [41].

Additionally, mutations in succinate dehydrogenase have been found in breast cancer, gastrointestinal stromal cancer and renal carcinomas [43–45]. For other cancers like uterine leiomyomas and RCCs [46,47], associations with mutations were found in other nuclear-encoded mitochondrial genes such as fumarate hydratase. Heterozygous mutations have been reported in the gene encoding for fumarate hydratase, which catalyzes the reversible hydration of fumarate to malate, a Krebs cycle substrate (see Fig. 1B) [48]. Similarly, for iso-citrate dehydrogenase, catalyzing the conversion of isocitrate into 2-glutarate in the Krebs cycle, mutations in the cytoplasmic (IDH1) and the mitochondrial (IDH2) isoforms are reported in a wide variety of human cancer types such as: acute myeloid leukemia [49,50], angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphomas [51], cartilaginous tumors [52], colorectal cancer [53], glioblastomas [54], glioma [55] and prostate cancer [56]. For a more extended review see Gaude and Frezza [57].

Although, evidence for a causative role of the latter mentioned mutations in oncogenesis is mostly indirect, the consequent changes in metabolite levels such as succinate have been shown to influence hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) stabilization [58].

3. Mitochondrial DNA mutations and cancer

Over recent years, accumulating evidence suggests that mtDNA mutations may also contribute to a cell's potential to become a cancer cell [59–61], ultimately leading to tissue invasion and metastasis. mtDNA variations, such as deletions, point mutations and copy number differences, are associated with a wide variety of cancer types [62–72].

3.1. Genetic insight into mtDNA

3.1.1. mtDNA characteristics

The mtDNA is a 16.5 kb double-stranded, circular-shaped DNA molecule that is distinct from nDNA in several ways: (1) mtDNA is only maternally inherited; (2) mammalian cells can contain thousands of mtDNA molecules, but they nevertheless represent only a minor percentage of the total DNA [73]. As mtDNA is polyploid, a mitochondrion contains five to ten copies of mtDNA, which can differ in composition from each other. Homoplasmy indicates that the mtDNA copies in a cell are all identical, while a mixture of wild-type and variant copies is referred to as heteroplasmy [74]; (3) mtDNA is almost completely comprised of coding sequence. It codes for 13 OXPHOS subunits, 22 tRNAs and 2 rRNAs; less than 10 percent of the entire mtDNA is non-coding [1] (Fig. 1A). This non-coding region is mainly located in the displacement (D)-loop, a 1.1 kb region involved in mtDNA replication and transcription. In addition, mtDNA encoded genes do not contain introns and have none or only a few non-coding bases between them. The coding sequences of some of the encoded genes are even overlapping, i.e. they share several mtDNA bases [1]. Consequently, changes in the mtDNA are more likely to have functional consequences than nDNA variations [68,75,76]; (4) in the mitochondrial genome, transcription starts from one of the two mitochondrial promoters and can take place on both DNA strands. Subsequently, transcription produces a polycistronic precursor RNA that results in individual tRNA, rRNA and mRNA molecules after processing; (5) mtDNA replication occurs independent of the cell cycle which is therefore referred to as relaxed replication. This means that the number of mtDNA molecules replicated per cell cycle is only restricted by the levels of available replication machinery factors and nucleotides [77,78]; (6) mtDNA has a higher mutation frequency compared to the nDNA in mammals [79,80]. Possible explanations are: mtDNA is located close to the ROS producing OXPHOS and mtDNA lacks protective histones [81,82]. However, there is a debate about the protective role of histones, as there is also evidence showing that the electrons can transfer easily from histones to DNA leading to damage [83] and under some conditions (exposure to Cu(II)/H₂O₂) histones can even enhance DNA damage [84]. It is also suggested that DNA-binding proteins of mitochondrial nucleoids can be as equally protective as histones for mtDNA under H₂O₂ or X-ray exposure [85,86].

3.1.2. Mitochondrial DNA maintenance

The replication of mtDNA is maintained *via* DNA polymerase γ (*POLG1* and *POLG2* genes) [87], mitochondrial transcription factor A (*TFAM*) [88], Twinkle (*C10orf2*) [42], mitochondrial 12S rRNA dimethylase 1 and mitochondrial 12S rRNA dimethylase 2 (*TFB1M* and *TFB2M*, synonyms: *mtTFB* or *Mtf1*) [48], mitochondrial single stranded DNA binding protein (mtSSB) [89] and mitochondrial RNA polymerase gene (*POLRMT*) [72]. Both polymerase γ and TFAM are essential for maintaining mtDNA copy number and integrity [90–94]. More frequent point mutations and deletions were observed when introducing mutations in the exonuclease domain of POLG resulting in misincorporation of nucleotides [95,96]. Furthermore, compared to nDNA, mtDNA damage persists longer [82].

In murine models having a complete knockout for TFAM, loss of mtDNA and severe OXPHOS defects are observed leading to embryonic death [94]. Inducible knock-down leads to cell death of the targeted cell type [97,98]. In 2011, Balliet and colleagues showed that fibroblasts lacking TFAM exhibited mitochondrial dysfunction and increased oxidative stress due to the loss of certain OXPHOS components and over-production of hydrogen peroxide and lactate [99].

3.1.3. mtDNA dynamics

Mitochondria are able to change their number and shape in different cell types under varying physiological conditions [100,101]. One possible way for mitochondria to maintain their integrity and thus to ensure a healthy population is by exchanging mtDNA through constant fission and fusion processes. It can guard a cell by allowing the mitochondria to fuse or divide and thereby protect the cell from detrimental effects of (accumulating) mtDNA mutations [102].

Mitophagy, a degradation process of mitochondria through autophagy, controls the number of mitochondria in the cell and initiates the removal of dysfunctional and damaged mitochondria [103]. Previous studies had already shown that defective mitochondria displayed increased mitophagy [104,105]. So when a mutation leads to a reduced mitochondrial membrane potential (depolarization of mitochondria) the mutation causes a phenotypical change and mitochondria loose therefore their ability to function normal. Consequently, the mitochondria are not able to re-fuse with the mitochondrial network after fission and are recycled [106].

When a somatic mtDNA mutation first occurs, it will be in one mtDNA molecule. The process of random genetic drift, *i.e.* the change in the frequency of a variant in a population due to random sampling, will at first determine the persistence and expansion or loss of this mutation since it will not have significant functional effects and thus selection advantage as a single copy. These mutations are not targeted by mitophagy and via fusion dominant mutations can become homoplasmic [68]. It is known from haplogroup studies that mtDNA variation can have an effect on how efficient electron transport and ATP production are coupled in the mitochondria [107]. In that sense, varying percentages of mutant mtDNA can lead to bioenergetic defects ranging from mild mitochondrial dysfunction to severe metabolic distress and cell death [108] or they can lead to more optimal functioning of the OXPHOS process. In combination with the proposed model that cancer metabolism switches from mainly glycolysis to preferentially OXPHOS and back during the cancer process [109], this suggests that mutations reaching certain heteroplasmy levels by random genetic drift resulting in a detrimental (stimulating glycolysis) or beneficial effect on OXPHOS will be selected and clonogenic expanded in these respective metabolism waves.

3.2. Germline mtDNA mutations associated with cancer

Different studies have explored the association between germline mtDNA mutations and cancer. There are indications that different germline mutations could actually contribute to the development of a certain cancer type in a specific population.

Different human populations can be distinguished by different human mtDNA haplogroups which are defined by unique sets of mtDNA polymorphisms, reflecting mutations accumulated by a discrete maternal lineage [110]. The haplogroups are associated with region-specific mtDNA sequence variation as a result of genetic drift and/or adaptive selection for an environment-favored mitochondrial function [107,111]. Tanaka et al. classified 30 different haplogroups in a retrospective study and found that the risk in the population M7b2 haplogroup was related to increased risk for hematopoietic cancer [112]. Furthermore, Booker et al. showed that haplogroup U was related to a 2.5-fold increased risk for developing renal cancer in Caucasian American men [113]. They also reported a two-fold increased risk for development of prostate cancer, a finding which was supported by Canter et al. [113,114].

Bai et al. identified two different haplogroups that influence breast cancer risk in a Caucasian population: haplogroup K indicates an increased risk whereas haplogroup U is a protective haplogroup [115]. Additionally, they identified four different single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that influence cancer risks in certain populations.

The m.10398A is especially of interest as it also defines the European haplogroup N [116]. The revised Cambridge Reference Sequence (rCRS) [117] has an A as reference nucleotide. In the paper of van Oven et al. a different sequence was published based on a phylogenetic approach. Here it was shown that the original wild-type nucleotide on this position should be a G and this site is prone for mutations as the G>A polymorphism occurs in different haplogroups [116]. Annotations in this paper are based on the rCRS nomenclature and HGVS guidelines.

The m.10398A>G and m.16519T>C variants were found to be related to an increased risk of breast cancer. Two other SNPs, m.13708G>A and m.3197T>C, were identified as protective variations [115]. Interestingly, in a population of African-American women, the m.10398A variant led to an increased risk of invasive breast cancer [118]. In an Indian population with haplogroup N, an association was found between m.10398A and breast and esophageal cancer [119]. However, in another study by Francis et al. within an Indian population no correlation was found between the m.10398A polymorphism and increased breast cancer risk [120]. In a study performed by Mosquera-Miguel et al. also no association was found for this variation in a Spanish population

[121]. Recently, Salas et al. reanalyzed all studies and no correlation could be found regarding the m.10398A>G SNP [122].

For prostate cancer, Petros et al. have demonstrated an association for four different germline mutations in cytochrome oxidase subunit I (m.6253T>C, m.6340C>T, m.6261G>A, and m.6663A>G) in a cohort study. Additionally in a proof of principle study they showed for the germline mutation m.8993T>G in ATP6 a 7-fold enhanced tumor volume for mutants compared to wild-type tumors. This indicates that mtDNA germline variations could play a role in tumor growth for prostate cancer [66].

For pancreatic cancer Wang et al. investigated if pancreatic cancer risk increase was associated with mtDNA SNPs however no correlation could be observed [123]. Navaglia et al. showed by sequencing the D-loop region that germline m.16519T worsened the prognosis in pancreatic cancer patients. However, somatic D-loop mutations seemed not to be involved [124]. Also Halfdanarson et al. investigated if survival outcome in pancreatic cancer could be predicted based on mtDNA variations by using a SNP approach; but they did not find a relationship between certain SNPs and pancreatic survival [125]. However, Lam et al. found using genome wide sequencing an association with pancreatic cancer and the variant m.5460G>A encoding for a non-synonymous p.A331T substitution in the ND2 gene. In the same study it was found that haplogroup K was correlated with a reduced risk compared to haplogroup H, however this could be a false positive finding, since these results were inconsistent with previous data and the amount of haplogroup K participants was very low. Additionally, in haplogroup N the amount of rare singleton (variants unique to a single participant) variations in HV2 and 12S RNA regions was increased compared to controls. The same was found for singletons ND4 and ND5 among patients with haplogroup L [65], These findings indicate that mtDNA variations might contribute to pancreatic cancer risk, however this needs to be further investigated.

The mentioned studies above took different approaches to identify mtDNA variations. Multiple studies only looked at certain SNPs [66,115,118,120,121,123–125] and others performed complete mtDNA sequencing to pick up variants [65], which give more inside in the different types of variations. It should be taken into account that also individual non-synonymous polymorphisms are able to influence mitochondrial function and that restricting analysis to haplogroup variation does not cover the load of mtDNA variation. Epistatic interactions (interactions between 2 or more variations) between the mtDNA and the nDNA are worth investigating in relation to cancer predisposition or development. There seems to be some evidence that germline polymorphisms and haplogroups are related to different cancer types. Note that studies finding germline mtDNA variations often face high frequencies of functional polymorphisms and high mutation rates can lead to the rise of the same mutation in different populations and therefore should be adjusted for population substructures as it is done in similar to Genome Wide Association studies. Otherwise, the SNPs can just mark different ancestral populations and not causal mechanisms [126].

Identifying germline mutations related to a specific cancer type in a defined population can be very difficult, as the same mutation can lead to a different risk in another population. From this perspective, somatic mtDNA mutations have an advantage as they are only carried in the tumor and not the patients' normal tissue [68].

3.3. Somatic mtDNA mutations related to cancer

In 1998, Polyak et al. demonstrated that somatic variations in the mtDNA were present in the primary tumors of colorectal cancer patients [68]. In the following years, numerous somatic



Fig. 2. Cybrid model for investigating the influence of mtDNA on cancer. Cybrids are produced by combining nucleated cells without mtDNA (ρ^0 cells) with cytoplasm from nonnucleated cells (cytoplasts). A cytoplast is made by removing the nucleus through ultracentrifugation (7200 RPM), leaving a cell that only contains mitochondria with mtDNA. Nucleated cells without mtDNA (ρ^0 cells) are formed by the depletion of the mtDNA by exposing the cells to ethidium bromide (Etbr). As these cells contain nuclear DNA, they define the nuclear background of the cybrid. Fusion of ρ^0 cells with the cytoplasts leads to the formation of cybrids.

mtDNA mutations were reported in a wide variety of tumors (e.g. colorectal, breast, bladder, esophageal, head and neck, ovarian, renal, leukemia, lung and thyroid cancer) [67-69,127-131]. Furthermore, somatic mutations have been shown to influence cancer progression and metastasis [66,71,132,133]. Data analysis by Larman et al. showed that, across 5 different cancer types, displayed somatic mtDNA mutations ranging, from 13% in glioblastoma to 63% frequency in rectal adenocarcinomas [133]. Some data suggests that the effect of the somatic mtDNA mutations and the degree or nature of the tumorigenesis effect depend on the functional and threshold effect of the mutation [134-136]. For instance, the m.3460G>A/MT-ND1 mutation (decrease in complex I activity) result in different tumorigenic potential as determined by colony forming efficiency and tumor growth of osteosarcoma cybrids (cytoplasmic hybrids, Fig. 2) [135] compared to the m.3571insC/MT-ND1 and the m.3243A>G/MT-TL1 mutation (severe structural and functional complex I alteration). More severe alterations in complex I (m.3571insC/MT-ND1 and the m.3243A>G/MT-TL1 mutation) resulted in a reduced tumorigenic potential both in vitro and in vivo, compared with cells displaying milder complex I dysfunction (m.3460G>A/MT-ND1 mutation) [135].

3.4. Changes in mtDNA copy number and its association with cancer

The number of mtDNA molecules could be another factor of consideration since this can affect proper mitochondrial function too [137]. Other reviews describe this subject in more depth or have been exclusively dedicated to this subject (see [138]). Here we give a short summary on this subject; however, this is not a

complete list regarding observed changes of mtDNA copy number in cancer. The association between copy number variation and cancer is still subject of debate. Different trends have been reported in multiple tumor types. Both an increase and a decrease in mtDNA copy number have been reported to be associated with an increased risk for tumorigenesis. In genomic DNA extracted from blood an elevated copy number (compared to matched control subjects) has been observed in of patients with various cancers e.g. breast cancer [139], RCCs [140], non-small cell lung cancer [63]. Additionally, there are also studies investigating mtDNA copy number in tumor tissues. In tumor tissues compared to matched control subjects an elevated copy number was found for endometrial cancer [141], glioblastoma [142], head and neck cancer [143] and ovarian cancer [144]. Also in tumor tissue compared with paired non-tumor tissue from the same patient an elevated copy number have been found for colorectal carcinoma [145], esophageal squamous cell carcinoma [146], metastatic fibrolamellar carcinomas [147], prostate cancer [148] and thyroid carcinoma [149].

Increased mtDNA copy numbers in tumors could possibly be explained by an increase of oxidative stress [150]. However, the precise mechanisms have not been fully understood. Potentially mtDNA replication could be increased to compensate for metabolic effects caused by mtDNA variations or oxidative stress [138].

In contrast, decreased mtDNA copy numbers have been reported in patients compared to matched tissue subjects for astrocytoma [151] and Ewings sarcoma [152], and in tumor *versus* non-tumor tissue samples from the same patient for breast cancer [149], lung cancer [153], primary fibrolamellar carcinoma [147], gastric cancer [154], hepatocellular carcinoma [147] and RCC



Fig. 3. Representation of different scenarios possibly explaining how mitochondrial genes encoded in nDNA or mtDNA could contribute to cancer. When a cell gains clonogenic potential and evolves into a primary tumor or metastasis, different alterations occur in nuclear encoded mitochondrial genes and mtDNA. Potentially three different scenarios could describe and explain these observations. In the causative model, mutations in mitochondrial genes encoded either in the nDNA or mtDNA cause the development of a carcinoma and/or metastasis. The multiple-hit model describes a scenario where different types of mutations (in classic oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes and in mtDNA or nDNA OXPHOS genes) together contribute to the clonogenic potential and the development of a carcinoma or metastasis. Mutations after which it can express its mutagenic or metastatic potential resulting in a pathogenic phenotype. Additionally, also low heteroplasmic mtDNA mutation levels can be increased *via* drift. This increased mutation percentage could thereby exhibit the pathogenic effect of the mutation. The third scenario consists of passenger mutations observed in the tumor but not contributing to an increased clonogenic or metastatic potential. The mutations can accumulate or disappear over time (genetic-drift). All different models can exist in the same tumor site, tumor or tumor type.

[155]. A twin study found that a reduced mtDNA copy number was related to an increased risk for the development of RCC [156].

Furthermore, there are indications that the depletion of mtDNA in cancer cells can be responsible for disease progression [157]. Lowered mtDNA is correlated with metastasis in patients suffering from Ewing's sarcomas [152]. In addition, shorter survival time was related to low mtDNA copy numbers in patients suffering from astrocytoma [151]. Again, a reverse observation was made for head and neck tumors where increased mtDNA copy number was found to be associated with a decreased survival [158].

Low mtDNA content can be caused by p53 or *POLG1* mutations, resulting in tumor initiation or progression [152,159–161]. The *POLG1* gene was found to be mutated in 63% of breast tumors, and thought to be responsible for a depletion of mtDNA in these tumors [160]. TFAM mutations associated with a lowered TFAM protein and a decreased mitochondrial copy number were found in colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability while no TFAM mutations were observed in colorectal cancers with microsatellite stability. Additionally TFAM mutated cells (TFAM frame-shift mutation) were able to grow larger tumors *in vivo* [93] and lowered mtDNA copy number and more oxidative mtDNA damage was observed in TFAM^{+/}

[–] mice [94,162]. When this model was crossbred with the adenomatous polyposis coli multiple intestinal neoplasia (APC^{-/+}) mouse cancer model, mtDNA instability enhanced tumorigenesis [162]. These findings suggest that both polymerase γ and TFAM might play an important role in tumorigenesis. Although, it is not

investigated if *POLG1* and *TFAM* mutations influence oncogenic transformation as such, a promotion of oncogenic potential after primary transformation has been shown especially for TFAM [93].

There have been several reports of higher cancer incidence with both increased and decreased copy numbers in the same tumor type. An example is RCC, for which both increased [140] and decreased copy numbers has been described [155,156]. Furthermore, there seems to be no specificity for tumor type or primary site. The exact molecular and metabolic differences between the cancer types that relate to these copy number differences should be examined in more detail for a plausible rationale to be found.

Previously, we discussed several types of nuclear encoded mitochondrial and mtDNA mutations exhibiting mitochondrial dysfunction and how they relate to cancer and cancer therapy (see Fig. 3). (1) Certain mutations display a causative effect for nuclear encoded mitochondrial and mtDNA genes in cancer. Some of the mutations in nuclear encoded mitochondrial genes have been reported to behave like tumor suppressor genes (like SDH or MnSOD) and loss of function or lowered expression increases tumor formation. Additionally, it has also been reported that mtDNA depletion can result in a tumorigenic phenotype *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* [51]. (2) The multiple-hit model could be an explanation for the observed alterations of mtDNA variations observed in cancer as most scientific findings presented only an association of mtDNA mutations in cancer. These mutations are not directly involved in generating the neoplastic phenotype but can

be responsible for tumor progression or play an important role in the metastatic potential of the tumors. Additionally, such mutations can also influence the outcome of disease by promoting cancer treatment insensitivity. However, there is also a second mechanism for the multiple-hit model possible. In this mechanism some driver mutations, without direct selective value, can be randomly fixed *via* random-drift. In this manner they only express their clonogenic or metastatic potential at a later stage and only in combination with other driver mutations. (3) Another option could be that neutral mtDNA mutations occur random and are not related to clonogenic potential or metastatic potential and are subject to genetic drift (= can disappear or accumulate) and are so called bystander (or passenger) mutations. However, it is likely that combination of the different models takes place in a tumor.

4. mtDNA and cancer treatment implications

In cancer patients, the choice of therapy depends on multiple factors such as the histopathology of the tumor, the stage of the disease and the patient's condition. The three most commonly used treatment options, sometimes combined with one another, are surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy.

4.1. Chemotherapy

mtDNA abnormalities affect the response and outcome of therapies in cancer patients. As described in a review by Singh et al. different studies have already shown that alterations in mtDNA can result in chemotherapy resistance [4]. It has been reported that mutations in the NADH dehydrogenase subunit 4 (*MT-ND4*) contributed to acquired chemoresistance during paclitaxel carboplatin treatment [163].

However, it also has been suggested that mtDNA variations can be induced by chemotherapy. In a case report a patient with ovarian carcinoma had a mtDNA mutation in the MT-ND4 gene (m.10875T>C) which occurred after chemotherapy treatment [163]. A second study observed that in a leukemia patient 6 months after chemotherapy more mtDNA variations were found compared to the samples withdrawn prior to treatment [8]. In the same study, leukemia patients treated with a fludarabine/alkylator-based chemotherapy regimen displayed an increase in mtDNA mutations in primary leukemic cells compared to non-treated patients [8]. Additionally, accumulation of mtDNA damage even persisted after ending doxorubicin treatment and was associated with adverse effects such as cardiotoxicity [164]. Therefore it seems that de novo variations can be induced by chemotherapy. Another possibility is that due to selection a very low heteroplasmy mutation load could be increased in the patients due to its clonogenic advantageous property. Both possible mechanisms should be further investigated as well as the observations should be validated in larger study populations before any conclusions could be drawn.

Another chemotherapeutic drug, cisplatin, is able to accumulate in the mitochondria, causing impairment of mtDNA and mtRNA synthesis [165]. This drug has been shown *in vitro* to induce more adduct formation in the mtDNA compared to the nuclear DNA [166]. In addition, cisplatin leads to caspase-dependent apoptosis by changing the mitochondrial membrane permeability and resulting in the release of cytochrome c into the cytosol, subsequently activating caspase 8 and 9 [167]. For the intestines, a correlation was observed between the mitochondrial density and cisplatin sensitivity. Cisplatin sensitivity was limited in normal ileum tissue having a low mitochondrial density, while the opposite was observed for the normal duodenum tissue, which has a high mitochondrial density. In line with these findings, *in vitro* cultured cells depleted from their mtDNA, rho-zero cells (ρ^0 , Fig. 2) generated from normal intestinal epithelial cell lines (IEC-6) showed a four- to five-fold increased resistance against cisplatin compared to their parental counterparts [168]. This can be explained by the fact that cisplatin-induced adduct formation in mtDNA measured in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell lines can be up to 500 times higher compared to nDNA [169]. However, it has also been suggested that mtDNA mutations lead to an increased ROS production and that combination with chemotherapeutics with the same effect (like cisplatin) can lead to exhaustion of a cell's antioxidant capacity/response and thereby eventually lead to apoptosis [170–172]. Correlations of ROS production and sensitivity to 2-methoxyestradiol, a ROS generating agent, have already been reported [173,174].

There seems to be some evidence that mtDNA variations could contribute to chemotherapy resistance and some drugs directly interact with the mtDNA. The observations also apply to radiotherapy, another conventional cancer therapy.

4.2. Radiation therapy

Ionizing radiation (IR) is a widely used cancer therapy that results in cellular damage in a direct or indirect cellular manner. The direct mechanism involves the transfer of energy from incident photons or particles to target molecules in their path. ROS are formed in the presence of oxygen, resulting in secondary damage [175]. Upon DNA damage, cells might undergo a temporary cell cycle arrest to repair the damage or die, mainly by mitotic catastrophe and only partly by apoptosis [176]; both processes require ATP [177,178], and might involve directly or indirectly mitochondria as both are at least in part dependent on mitochondrial membrane permeabilization. This suggests that mitochondria are potentially involved in downstream irradiation effects [179,180].

Studies have shown that ρ^0 cells are more radioresistant than parental cells containing wild-type mtDNA [181,182]. Human fibroblast and pancreatic cancer ρ^0 cells have shown higher survival rates following radiation, which could be related to decreased G2/M cell cycle arrest [181] or decreased apoptosis without alterations in cell cycle distribution [182]. Improved survival could not be linked to differences in antioxidant enzyme expression [181]. In contrast, other studies did not identify differences in survival after irradiation between human fibroblast and osteosarcoma in parental *versus* ρ^0 cells, although less micronuclei (fragments found in the cytoplasm which originates from nuclear DNA and correlates with dose/quality of irradiation [183]) formation was observed in ρ^0 cells after irradiation [184,185].

A differential radiation response was observed between a normal B-lymphoblastoid cell line and the mitochondrial mutant cell lines for Leigh's syndrome (m.8993T>G mutation in MTATP6 ATP synthase gene) or Leber's optic atrophy (m.11778G>A mutation in MTND4 gene) [186,187]. In both cell lines, the apoptosis-related genes showed a remarkable up-regulation compared to the control cell line. However, the repair of the irradiation-induced doublestranded breaks was different for each of the mutant cell lines. Repair was significantly decreased in cells with Leigh's mutation, leading to worse short-term radiation survival, while for the Leber's cells, double-strand breaks could be repaired resulting in better short-term radiation survival although the studies were not performed in cell lines with the same background [186,188]. In a recently published in vivo study it was shown that irradiation of a SiHa cell line with induced mitochondrial dysfunction (showing a decrease of oxygen consumption upon exposure to ethidium bromide) lead to an increased time to reach the endpoint compared to their parental counterpart [189].

There are also indications that mtDNA variation may not only affect radiotherapy outcome, but that radiotherapy and chemotherapy itself also can induce mutations in the mtDNA. Wardell et al. observed an increased number of point mutations and deletions in patients treated with radiotherapy and chemotherapy [190]. Additionally, a decrease in mtDNA content has been reported as a result of radiotherapy in cancer patients [191]. However, another study found no evidence that radiotherapy for pediatric cancer, which resulted in scatter radiation to the ovaries, is associated with the mitochondrial genome mutation frequency in female cancer survivors and their children [192]. In conclusion, mtDNA mutations (induced by radiotherapy or germline) can also affect the response and therefore the outcome of radiotherapy although the precise role and mechanisms are not yet fully understood.

4.3. Mitochondrial function interventions in cancer therapy

ROS is one of the major processes implicated in cancer. It may be possible to reduce the ROS escalation caused by dysfunctional OXPHOS using metformin, a type II diabetes drug that is used to suppress gluconeogenesis and, among others, inhibits ROS production as well as mitochondrial complex I [193–195]. A previous study showed that type II diabetes patients have an increased risk of developing cancer with a poorer prognosis [196]. In 2005, Evans et al. observed a correlation between a reduced risk of developing cancer and treatment of type II diabetes patients with metformin [197], which was recently confirmed in a large cohort study [198].

Metformin activates adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK) and therefore stimulates muscles to take up glucose from the blood, a process also activated by exercise [197]. Furthermore, the activation of the cell metabolism regulator AMPK results in inhibition of mTORC1 and its downstream signaling pathway, thereby decreasing protein synthesis and cell proliferation crucial for tumors [199,200]. The combination of metformin and radiation therapy was shown to be successful in vitro since cellular survival was decreased [201]. Song et al. found that metformin was able to increase radiosensitivity of cancer cells in vitro and enhance radiation-induced growth delay of fibrosarcoma tumors as well as non-small cell lung cancer [202,203]. When metformin treatment was combined with 2-deoxyglucose (2-DG, a glucose analog), it resulted in an energetic stress cell death [204,205]. Instead of using a glucose analog, glucose uptake could be inhibited by other substances (e.g. Pholertin, WZB117 or Fasentin) to enact a similar mechanism [206-208]. Inhibition of glucose uptake of the cell could also be a potential target for tumors with a dysfunctional OXPHOS system [209].

Table 1

Comparison of different in vitro, in vivo and ex vivo mitochondrial models.

	In vitro				In νινο			Εχ νινο
	Tumor cell lines	ρ^0 cells	Fibroblast cell lines	Cybrids	Small organisms	Rodent models: mtDNA	Rodent models: Xenografts	Primary tissue
Availability	+++	++	+	+/-	+++	+	++	_
High throughput	+++	++	+	+	+	+/	++	+++
Pathological similarity	+/	_	++	+	+/	++	+	+++
Main advantage	Easy to manipulate	Easy to manipulate	Patient-derived	For comparison of nDNA and mtDNA background effects	High throughput	Pathological similarity	Implantation of patient material in a biological environment	No translation necessary
Main disadvantage	Reduced phenotype	Not applicable for <i>in vivo</i> experiments	Availability	Reduced phenotype	Evolutionary distance	Costs	Less biologically relevant than mitochondrial mouse models	Availability
Applications: Study pathology	+/	+/	+	++	+/	++	+/	+++
Therapy testing	-	+/	++	++	+++	++	+	+/-

Both chemo- and radiotherapy could be influenced by mtDNA variations. Additionally, a combination therapy including conventional therapies and drugs influencing mitochondrial function could be explored as a therapeutic option for cancer patients.

5. Opportunities and pitfalls in studies using mtDNA models

Multiple studies have identified potential associations between mtDNA variations and cancer [62–71,210]. Mutations/deletions and copy number variations in the mtDNA are able to affect proper OXPHOS function and consequently change predisposition for a disorder. mtDNA variations (*de novo*, inherited, caused by ROS production in tumors or by cancer treatments) can promote tumor development and progression. Different mtDNA models are available for diagnostic and research purposes. Table 1 presents a short representation of *in vitro*, *in vivo* and *ex vivo* models.

5.1. In vitro mtDNA models

Effects of mtDNA depletion are commonly investigated in the ρ^0 cell model, mammalian cells depleted of mtDNA by exposure to ethidium bromide (Etbr) [211]. Consequently, ρ^0 cells rely completely on glycolysis instead of oxidative phosphorylation for energy production. Removal of Etbr leads to mtDNA repopulation and therefore it should be used throughout the entire experiment. Etbr treatment can lead to stalled proliferation [212], is genotoxic to cells *in vitro* (http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov) and can lead to off-target effects on the nDNA. Therefore this model is not suitable for *in vivo* studies.

Most studies on pathophysiology have exploited fibroblasts derived from patients with mtDNA diseases or mutations. These models allow for high-throughput screening [75,76,213] and testing of potential therapies *in vitro*. Unfortunately, the consequences of OXPHOS-related defects are sometimes less pronounced in *in vitro* fibroblast cultures, since cells are capable of switching from oxidative phosphorylation toward glycolysis under specific culturing conditions [214]. In addition, these cells are generally not able to form tumors by themselves. Therefore fibroblasts are not suitable for investigating the link between cancer and mtDNA.

A cybrid cell line is another model used to study the effect of mtDNA variations in cancer. These are cell lines with the nuclear DNA background of a tumor cell line [132] and the mtDNA of another cell line (Fig. 2). The mtDNA can come from a patient-derived cancer cell

+++, excellent; ++, good; +, satisfactory, but better options are available; +/-, sufficient but other models are more desirable; -, insufficient.

line, a fibroblast or a lymphocyte cell line. The main advantage of these cybrids is the ability to investigate whether phenotypes and biochemical changes are related to changes in the nDNA or mtDNA. Furthermore, cybrid models enable the investigation of *in vitro* and *in vivo* effects of different mtDNA mutations in cancer cell lines and tumors with the same nuclear background [215]. A possible disadvantage is the dependency on naturally occurring patient mtDNA variations.

5.2. Mitochondrial animal models

Patients with variations in their mtDNA are often unique, so grouping them is very difficult. Therefore, data obtained from patient studies should be carefully interpreted with respect to large inter-individual variation. The use of murine models is in this respect advantageous, as experimental settings can be better controlled than in patient studies. For instance, cell lines with the same nuclear genetic background harboring one mtDNA variation can be used as xenograft models. Additionally, to easier investigate the molecular mechanisms, specific mitochondrial murine models, such as the POLG mutator mouse, can be used either combined with mouse models which spontaneously develop cancer.

Currently, different mouse models are available to unravel the pathways involved in mtDNA mutations and cancer (Table 1). The most studied mouse model created for translational research in this particular field is the POLG knock-in mouse. These mice lack the proofreading function of pol γ and therefore show an accumulation of mutations and deletions in their mtDNA [216]. In homozygous mice, but not in heterozygous mice, a premature aging phenotype resulting in effects such as heart enlargement and hearing impairment has been observed. However, no cancer development has been reported [216,217]. Another mouse model carries a mutation in the complex I subunit NADH dehydrogenase ubiquinone Fe-S protein 4 (NDUFS4). These mice displayed a phenotype similar to that in human patients carrying a NDUFS4 mutation, and a full knockout was lethal at approximately seven weeks of age [218,219]. A heterozygote mutant of the NDUFS4 mice was viable and still showed the biochemical changes observed in patients suffering from Leigh's syndrome [220].

A third model, the thymidine phosphorylase (Tp) and uridine phosphorylase (Upp) double knockout mouse model ($Tp^{-/-}Upp$ - $1^{-/-}$) has been developed for studying mitochondrial neurogastrointestinal encephalomyopathy (MNGIE). Murine UPP-1, unlike human UPP-1, cleaves thymidine as well as uridine; therefore, the full capacity to cleave mouse thymidine is abolished in this mouse model [221-223]. In addition, deficiencies of complex I and IV could be observed in the brain of very old $Tp^{-/-}Upp-1^{-/-}$ mice [223]. This thymidine-induced dNTP imbalance has been recently demonstrated to be overcome by the metabolic switch into the salvage pathway in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells, therefore avoiding the lethal replication stress and the subsequent tumor progression. Accordingly, strategies focused on inhibition of this switch have been suggested as metabolic intervention in acute lymphoblastic leukemia [224]. Tp is found to be overexpressed in different tumors (e.g. non-small-cell lung cancer and colorectal cancer) and seems to play an important role in angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis of tumors [225,226]. A study by Moghaddam et al. found that Tp has angiogenic properties and, in a MCF7 breast cancer xenograft model, Tp overexpression led to faster tumor growth [227]. In contrast, low Tp expression correlates to the favorable prognosis of gastric cancer treated with chemotherapy [228,229] and promoter methylation has been proposed as a mechanism of its expression down regulation in different cancer cells [230,231].

Mice can be given a trigger (*e.g.* a toxin such as nitrosaminoketone) or have a nuclear gene background such as the K- ras^{LA} mouse model to develop cancer [232,233]. This in combination with a murine model with a pathological mtDNA background could lead to the creation of a model containing both the mtDNA phenotype and the cancer phenotype to investigate the contribution of both parameters to the phenotype of the tumor.

As every mouse strain has specific differences and it is labor intensive to make genetic mouse models for every human phenotype, another option is to use small animal models specially created for studying the mitochondrial DNA mutation pathology. Animal models, such as *Danio rerio* (zebra fish) [234], *Drosophila melanogaster* (fruit fly) [235] and *Caenorhabditis elegans* (round worm) [236], develop rather quickly and the model can be manipulated by directly adding compounds to the food, medium or water, or irradiating their culture dish. Because the evolutionary distance to humans is larger than for mice, some of these organisms do not contain all the organs affected in humans [237].

5.3. OXPHOS inhibitors in cellular models for therapeutic interventions

Several studies demonstrated that inhibition of glycolysis could be a possible treatment option for cancers with compromised mitochondrial function (see review Pelicano et al. [209]). As these cancers rely more on aerobic glycolysis (Warburg effect), driving the tumors to use OXPHOS instead would lead to sever energetic stress. Cells with mtDNA mutations or with a lack of oxygen (hypoxia) are not able to use alternative energy sources such as fatty acids and amino acids to produce metabolic intermediates which can be used in the Krebs cycle for ATP production through OXPHOS. In these cells inhibition of glycolysis could induce cell death [238,239]. For instance, in an *in vitro* system using human leukemia cells (HL-60) and human lymphoma cells (Raji), cells with a respiration defect were less sensitive to cytostatic drugs like 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine (ara-C), doxorubicin (Adriamycin), taxol and vincristine [29]. However, lonidamine, 3-bromopyruvate and 2-deoxyglucose are known inhibitors of glycolysis that showed promising results [29,204,205,240]. In addition, partial inhibition of OXPHOS can be achieved by inhibition of the different complexes of the OXPHOS system. The pesticide rotenone is known for its ability to inhibit complex I [219]. It can be used in an experimental set-up at low concentrations, but it is not likely to obtain U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for usage in humans due to toxic effects (e.g. irritation of the respiratory tract and apoptosis of erythrocytes) [241,242]. Metformin, an FDA approved drug prescribed to patients with type II diabetes [199], is another inhibitor of complex I [193]. However, as discussed above metformin is also used as an anti-cancer drug by inhibiting the mTOR signaling through activation of AMPK. A more potent drug for complex I inhibition is phenformin [243] a drug related to metformin from the biguanide class that is able to inhibit the development and growth of MCF7 and MDAMV231 tumors in a xenograft mouse model [244]. Additionally, it also affects the mTOR signaling pathway [245]. In xenograft melanomas and in genetically modified mice for melanomas (BRAF^{V600E}) combined therapy of phenformin and PLX4720 showed a significant growth reduction whereas treatment with only phenformin or PLX470 resulted in growth inhibition but no tumor regression [245]. However, FDA has redrawn phenformin from the North-American market in 1977, due to its association with fatal lactic acidosis in diabetic patients.

6. Future prospects

There is still a lot of debate about the precise relationship between mtDNA variants, OXPHOS abnormalities and cancer. Are these mtDNA variations driving disease, involved in disease progression or implicated in treatment response and adaptation to treatment? Or are they merely passenger observations?

6.1. Detecting mtDNA mutations

Various platforms can be used to identify mtDNA mutations in tumor material or other specimens. Using mutation specific restriction digestion or restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis, screening for common mtDNA mutations becomes possible [246]. Denaturing high performance liquid chromatography can be used to determine heteroplasmy mtDNA mutations [247]. Pyrosequencing allows accurate quantification of the heteroplasmy levels of a variation [248]. For detection of mtDNA deletions long-range PCR [249,250] or quantitative real-time PCR based methods [251] and southern blotting [252] could be used. Though, currently there is more desire for high-throughput methods of which some of these are listed below.

Random Mutation Capture (RMC) assay is based on single molecule amplification which facilitates the user in measuring relative values of the spontaneous mutation frequency and mtDNA deletions [253]. Another method is digital deletion detection (3D assay) and is based on the RMC method; with 3D it is also possible to identify rare deletion events [254]. Currently, next generation sequencing (NGS) of mtDNA is the standard for determination of homo- and heteroplasmic variations. Heteroplasmy depends on tissue type; therefore somatic mutations in tumor tissue are mainly heteroplasmic since tumors exist out of different cell types. NGS has an enhanced sensitivity for detecting low levels of heteroplasmy and has as well an increased coverage [255]. The previously used platform. MitoChip, is commonly used for the identification of homoplasmic mutations. Although the detection range is limited, also some heteroplastic variants can be found [256,257]. mtDNA variants detected with MitoChip usually have to be confirmed using conventional Sanger sequencing.

6.2. Identification of potential drug targets

mtDNA research is not only pursuing the identification of variations of mtDNA that are involved in cancer and its treatment, but also the identification of potential drug targets. The ideal treatment would be to repair the appropriate defective mtDNA sequence, although this would be almost impossible for cancerrelated somatic mtDNA mutations. Different strategies to achieve this goal have been suggested for severe germline mtDNA mutations. For example, blocking the replication of mutated mtDNA by peptide nucleic acid might result in repopulated cells with unaffected wild-type DNA [258]. However, as interventions specifically for mtDNA are difficult to implement, mitochondria and mtDNA can be targeted at multiple downstream steps of physiological processes. Drugs can interact with mitochondrial permeability, membrane potential, energy supply, antioxidants, ROS production and apoptosis. For instance, influencing the function of B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2), an anti-apoptotic protein, might be used as a target. Bcl-2 is often overexpressed in solid tumors and contributes to resistance to conventional therapies [259]. Possible targets in the cell are the mitochondrial outer membrane proteins (e.g. monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) and mitochondrial pyruvate carriers (MPCs)) or inner membrane proteins (complex I, complex II, complex III, complex IV and complex V), the ETC and the Krebs cycle.

Alternatively, variations in mtDNA can be exploited to tailor patients' therapy. It is unlikely that all patients with different variations causing OXPHOS deficiency will benefit from the same treatment. To illustrate, for tumors with heteroplasmic driver mutations interventions that stimulate mtDNA quantity can result in high mutation levels and should be avoided to prevent that tumors become more therapy resistant. In this case, stimulating mitophagy could be a better option to eliminate the mutation. Altogether, personalized treatments should be carefully evaluated in respect to the pathological process in the tumors of the cancer patients.

7. Conclusions

Over the last decade, the role of mitochondria and, more specifically, mtDNA in cancer has started to be explored. Different signaling processes and ROS production have been implicated in the development and progression of cancer, and these processes can be affected by changes in the mtDNA. However, the exact molecular mechanisms are not yet known. The link between mtDNA and different processes (DNA damage, ROS and apoptosis) and how this plays a role in cancer remains especially vague and is not well defined. In this review, we discussed 3 different types of models (Fig. 3) of nuclear encoded and mitochondrial encoded DNA mutations and how they relate to cancer and cancer therapy. The mutations can have a causative effect, could depended on the multiple hit model or can be just neutral the so-called passenger mutations. Although a combination of these models could occur in the tumor.

Future research should focus on establishing whether these processes are causes or consequences and under which circumstances, and exploring whether they are connected or unrelated to changes in the mtDNA. Upon progressive knowledge about the role of mtDNA, it will be possible to better understand cancer initiation and progression and to improve the prognosis and treatment of patients.

Conflict of interest-statement

There are no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge the financial support of the Center for Translational and Molecular Medicine (AIRFORCE), METOXIA (Metoxia project ref. 2008-222741), the Netherlands Genomics Initiative (pre-seed grant 2012, 93612005), the azM onderzoeksfonds (2012–2014) and the Sophia Foundation (SSW0645). This study was conducted with the support of the Ontario Institute for Cancer Research to PCB through funding provided by the Government of Ontario.

References

- S. Anderson, et al., Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome, Nature 290 (5806) (1981) 457–465.
- [2] J. Smeitink, L. van den Heuvel, S. DiMauro, The genetics and pathology of oxidative phosphorylation, Nat. Rev. Genet. 2 (5) (2001) 342–352.
- [3] J. St-Pierre, et al., Topology of superoxide production from different sites in the mitochondrial electron transport chain, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (47) (2002) 44784– 44790.
- [4] K.K. Singh, et al., Mitochondrial DNA determines the cellular response to cancer therapeutic agents, Oncogene 18 (48) (1999) 6641–6646.
- [5] A.M. Voets, et al., Transcriptional changes in OXPHOS complex I deficiency are related to anti-oxidant pathways and could explain the disturbed calcium homeostasis, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1822 (7) (2012) 1161–1168.
- [6] A.M. Voets, et al., Patient-derived fibroblasts indicate oxidative stress status and may justify antioxidant therapy in OXPHOS disorders, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1817 (11) (2012) 1971–1978.
- [7] P.E. Porporato, et al., A mitochondrial switch promotes tumor metastasis, Cell Rep. 8 (3) (2014) 754–766.
- [8] J.S. Carew, et al., Mitochondrial DNA mutations in primary leukemia cells after chemotherapy: clinical significance and therapeutic implications, Leukemia 17 (8) (2003) 1437–1447.
- [9] J.M. McCord, I. Fridovich, Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein), J. Biol. Chem. 244 (22) (1969) 6049–6055.

- [10] J.R. Wispe, et al., Synthesis and processing of the precursor for human manganosuperoxide dismutase, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 994 (1) (1989) 30–36.
- [11] L.W. Oberley, G.R. Buettner, Role of superoxide dismutase in cancer: a review, Cancer Res. 39 (4) (1979) 1141–1149.
- [12] L.W. Oberley, Anticancer therapy by overexpression of superoxide dismutase, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 3 (3) (2001) 461–472.
- [13] S. Miriyala, et al., Manganese superoxide dismutase MnSOD and its mimics, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1822 (5) (2012) 794–814.
- [14] Y. Xu, et al., Mutations in the promoter reveal a cause for the reduced expression of the human manganese superoxide dismutase gene in cancer cells, Oncogene 18 (1) (1999) 93–102.
- [15] C. Hwang, A.J. Sinskey, H.F. Lodish, Oxidized redox state of glutathione in the endoplasmic reticulum, Science 257 (5076) (1992) 1496–1502.
- [16] P.A. Karplus, G.E. Schulz, Refined structure of glutathione reductase at 1.54 A resolution, J. Mol. Biol. 195 (3) (1987) 701–729.
- [17] M.T. Lin, M.F. Beal, Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases, Nature 443 (7113) (2006) 787-795.
- [18] O. Warburg, F. Wind, E. Negelein, The metabolism of tumors in the body, J. Gen. Physiol. 8 (6) (1927) 519-530.
- [19] A. Rempel, et al., Glucose catabolism in cancer cells: amplification of the gene encoding type II hexokinase, Cancer Res. 56 (11) (1996) 2468–2471.
- [20] L.K. Sharma, et al., Mitochondrial respiratory complex I dysfunction promotes tumorigenesis through ROS alteration and AKT activation, Hum. Mol. Genet. 20 (23) (2011) 4605–4616.
- [21] V. Geromel, et al., Superoxide-induced massive apoptosis in cultured skin fibroblasts harboring the neurogenic ataxia retinitis pigmentosa (NARP) mutation in the ATPase-6 gene of the mitochondrial DNA, Hum. Mol. Genet. 10 (11) (2001) 1221–1228.
- [22] D.C. Wallace, A mitochondrial paradigm of metabolic and degenerative diseases, aging, and cancer: a dawn for evolutionary medicine, Annu. Rev. Genet. 39 (2005) 359–407.
- [23] J.E. Kokoszka, et al., Increased mitochondrial oxidative stress in the Sod2 (+/-) mouse results in the age-related decline of mitochondrial function culminating in increased apoptosis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (5) (2001) 2278–2283.
- [24] A. Trifunovic, et al., Somatic mtDNA mutations cause aging phenotypes without affecting reactive oxygen species production, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (50) (2005) 17993–17998.
- [25] D.C. Wallace, Mitochondria cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer 12 (10) (2012) 685–698.
- [26] V. Gogvadze, B. Zhivotovsky, S. Orrenius, The Warburg effect and mitochondrial stability in cancer cells, Mol. Aspects Med. 31 (1) (2010) 60–74.
- [27] H. Simonnet, et al., Low mitochondrial respiratory chain content correlates with tumor aggressiveness in renal cell carcinoma, Carcinogenesis 23 (5) (2002) 759–768.
- [28] M. Wu, et al., Multiparameter metabolic analysis reveals a close link between attenuated mitochondrial bioenergetic function and enhanced glycolysis dependency in human tumor cells, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 292 (1) (2007) C125– C136.
- [29] R.H. Xu, et al., Inhibition of glycolysis in cancer cells: a novel strategy to overcome drug resistance associated with mitochondrial respiratory defect and hypoxia, Cancer Res. 65 (2) (2005) 613–621.
- [30] A.Y. Choo, et al., Glucose addiction of TSC null cells is caused by failed mTORC1dependent balancing of metabolic demand with supply, Mol. Cell 38 (4) (2010) 487–499.
- [31] K. Zaugg, et al., Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1C promotes cell survival and tumor growth under conditions of metabolic stress, Genes Dev. 25 (10) (2011) 1041–1051.
- [32] D. Whitaker-Menezes, et al., Hyperactivation of oxidative mitochondrial metabolism in epithelial cancer cells in situ: visualizing the therapeutic effects of metformin in tumor tissue, Cell Cycle 10 (23) (2011) 4047–4064.
- [33] S. Rodriguez-Enriquez, et al., Oxidative phosphorylation is impaired by prolonged hypoxia in breast and possibly in cervix carcinoma, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 42 (10) (2010) 1744–1751.
- [34] J. Park, et al., Leptin receptor signaling supports cancer cell metabolism through suppression of mitochondrial respiration in vivo, Am. J. Pathol. 177 (6) (2010) 3133–3144.
- [35] K. Polyak, et al., A model for p53-induced apoptosis, Nature 389 (6648) (1997) 300–305.
- [36] W.E. Mercer, et al., Negative growth regulation in a glioblastoma tumor cell line that conditionally expresses human wild-type p53, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 (16) (1990) 6166–6170.
- [37] H. Tanaka, et al., A ribonucleotide reductase gene involved in a p53-dependent cell-cycle checkpoint for DNA damage, Nature 404 (6773) (2000) 42–49.
- [38] J.P. Bayley, P. Devilee, P.E. Taschner, The SDH mutation database: an online resource for succinate dehydrogenase sequence variants involved in pheochromocytoma, paraganglioma and mitochondrial complex II deficiency, BMC Med. Genet. 6 (2005) 39.
- [39] B.E. Baysal, et al., Mutations in SDHD, a mitochondrial complex II gene, in hereditary paraganglioma, Science 287 (5454) (2000) 848–851.
- [40] S. Niemann, U. Muller, Mutations in SDHC cause autosomal dominant paraganglioma, type 3, Nat. Genet. 26 (3) (2000) 268–270.
- [41] T. Ishii, et al., A mutation in the SDHC gene of complex II increases oxidative stress, resulting in apoptosis and tumorigenesis, Cancer Res. 65 (1) (2005) 203–209.
- [42] T. Dwight, et al., Familial SDHA mutation associated with pituitary adenoma and pheochromocytoma/paraganglioma, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98 (6) (2013) E1103–E1108.

- [43] C. Ricketts, et al., Germline SDHB mutations and familial renal cell carcinoma, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 100 (17) (2008) 1260–1262.
- [44] K.A. Janeway, et al., Defects in succinate dehydrogenase in gastrointestinal stromal tumors lacking KIT and PDGFRA mutations, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (1) (2011) 314–318.
- [45] S. Kim, et al., Succinate dehydrogenase expression in breast cancer, SpringerPlus 2 (1) (2013) 299.
- [46] I.P. Tomlinson, et al., Germline mutations in FH predispose to dominantly inherited uterine fibroids, skin leiomyomata and papillary renal cell cancer, Nat. Genet. 30 (4) (2002) 406–410.
- [47] R. Lehtonen, et al., Biallelic inactivation of fumarate hydratase (FH) occurs in nonsyndromic uterine leiomyomas but is rare in other tumors, Am. J. Pathol. 164 (1) (2004) 17–22.
- [48] H.J. Lehtonen, et al., Conventional renal cancer in a patient with fumarate hydratase mutation, Hum. Pathol. 38 (5) (2007) 793–796.
- [49] E.R. Mardis, et al., Recurring mutations found by sequencing an acute myeloid leukemia genome, N. Engl. J. Med. 361 (11) (2009) 1058–1066.
- [50] P. Paschka, et al., IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are frequent genetic alterations in acute myeloid leukemia and confer adverse prognosis in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation without FLT3 internal tandem duplication, J. Clin. Oncol. 28 (22) (2010) 3636–3643.
- [51] R.A. Cairns, et al., IDH2 mutations are frequent in angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma, Blood 119 (8) (2012) 1901–1903.
- [52] M.F. Amary, et al., IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are frequent events in central chondrosarcoma and central and periosteal chondromas but not in other mesenchymal tumours, J. Pathol. 224 (3) (2011) 334–343.
- [53] T. Sjoblom, et al., The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers, Science 314 (5797) (2006) 268–274.
- [54] D.W. Parsons, et al., An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme, Science 321 (5897) (2008) 1807–1812.
- [55] H. Yan, et al., IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas, N. Engl. J. Med. 360 (8) (2009) 765-773.
- [56] B.S. Taylor, et al., Integrative genomic profiling of human prostate cancer, Cancer Cell 18 (1) (2010) 11–22.
- [57] E. Gaude, C. Frezza, Defects in mitochondrial metabolism and cancer, Cancer Metab. 2 (2014) 10.
- [58] M.A. Selak, et al., Succinate links TCA cycle dysfunction to oncogenesis by inhibiting HIF-alpha prolyl hydroxylase, Cancer Cell 7 (1) (2005) 77–85.
- [59] F.A. Zimmermann, et al., Lack of complex I is associated with oncocytic thyroid tumours, Br. J. Cancer 100 (9) (2009) 1434–1437.
- [60] L. Pereira, et al., Somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in cancer escape purifying selection and high pathogenicity mutations lead to the oncocytic phenotype: pathogenicity analysis of reported somatic mtDNA mutations in tumors, BMC Cancer 12 (2012) 53.
- [61] M. Kulawiec, et al., Tumorigenic transformation of human breast epithelial cells induced by mitochondrial DNA depletion, Cancer Biol. Ther. 7 (11) (2008) 1732–1743.
- [62] P. Parrella, et al., Detection of mitochondrial DNA mutations in primary breast cancer and fine-needle aspirates, Cancer Res. 61 (20) (2001) 7623–7626.
- [63] H.D. Hosgood 3rd, et al., Mitochondrial DNA copy number and lung cancer risk in a prospective cohort study, Carcinogenesis 31 (5) (2010) 847–849.
- [64] J.P. Jakupciak, et al., Performance of mitochondrial DNA mutations detecting early stage cancer, BMC Cancer 8 (2008) 285.
- [65] E.T. Lam, et al., Mitochondrial DNA sequence variation and risk of pancreatic cancer, Cancer Res. 72 (3) (2012) 686–695.
- [66] J.A. Petros, et al., mtDNA mutations increase tumorigenicity in prostate cancer, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (3) (2005) 719–724.
- [67] V.W. Liu, et al., High incidence of somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in human ovarian carcinomas, Cancer Res. 61 (16) (2001) 5998–6001.
- [68] K. Polyak, et al., Somatic mutations of the mitochondrial genome in human colorectal tumours, Nat. Genet. 20 (3) (1998) 291–293.
- [69] M.S. Fliss, et al., Facile detection of mitochondrial DNA mutations in tumors and bodily fluids, Science 287 (5460) (2000) 2017–2019.
- [70] M. Nishikawa, et al., Somatic mutation of mitochondrial DNA in cancerous and noncancerous liver tissue in individuals with hepatocellular carcinoma, Cancer Res. 61 (5) (2001) 1843–1845.
- [71] S. Dasgupta, et al., Mitochondrial DNA mutations in respiratory complex-l in never-smoker lung cancer patients contribute to lung cancer progression and associated with EGFR gene mutation, J. Cell. Physiol. 227 (6) (2012) 2451–2460.
- [72] J. Boultwood, et al., Amplification of mitochondrial DNA in acute myeloid leukaemia, Br. J. Haematol. 95 (2) (1996) 426–431.
- [73] C. Richter, J.W. Park, B.N. Ames, Normal oxidative damage to mitochondrial and nuclear DNA is extensive, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 85 (17) (1988) 6465–6467.
- [74] S. DiMauro, E.A. Schon, Mitochondrial DNA mutations in human disease, Am. J. Med. Genet. 106 (1) (2001) 18–26.
- [75] F.H. van der Westhuizen, et al., Human mitochondrial complex I deficiency: investigating transcriptional responses by microarray, Neuropediatrics 34 (1) (2003) 14–22.
- [76] F. Valsecchi, et al., Complex I disorders: causes, mechanisms, and development of treatment strategies at the cellular level, Dev. Disabil. Res. Rev. 16 (2) (2010) 175–182.
- [77] N.G. Larsson, D.A. Clayton, Molecular genetic aspects of human mitochondrial disorders, Annu. Rev. Genet. 29 (1995) 151–178.
- [78] P.F. Chinnery, D.C. Samuels, Relaxed replication of mtDNA: a model with implications for the expression of disease, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 64 (4) (1999) 1158–1165.

- [79] M. Lynch, B. Koskella, S. Schaack, Mutation pressure and the evolution of organelle genomic architecture, Science 311 (5768) (2006) 1727–1730.
- [80] A.A. Johnson, K.A. Johnson, Exonuclease proofreading by human mitochondrial DNA polymerase, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (41) (2001) 38097–38107.
- [81] R.D. Kornberg, Chromatin structure: a repeating unit of histones and DNA, Science 184 (4139) (1974) 868–871.
- [82] F.M. Yakes, B. Van Houten, Mitochondrial DNA damage is more extensive and persists longer than nuclear DNA damage in human cells following oxidative stress, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (2) (1997) 514–519.
- [83] P.M. Cullis, et al., Electron transfer from protein to DNA in irradiated chromatin, Nature 330 (6150) (1987) 773–774.
- [84] Q. Liang, P.C. Dedon, Cu(II)/H2O2-induced DNA damage is enhanced by packaging of DNA as a nucleosome, Chem. Res. Toxicol. 14 (4) (2001) 416–422.
- [85] T.I. Alam, et al., Human mitochondrial DNA is packaged with TFAM, Nucleic Acids Res. 31 (6) (2003) 1640–1645.
- [86] N.A. Guliaeva, E.A. Kuznetsova, A.I. Gaziev, Proteins associated with mitochondrial DNA protect it against the action of X-rays and hydrogen peroxide, Biofizika 51 (4) (2006) 692–697.
- [87] A.F. Davis, et al., Mitochondrial DNA polymerase gamma is expressed and translated in the absence of mitochondrial DNA maintenance and replication, Nucleic Acids Res. 24 (14) (1996) 2753–2759.
- [88] J.U. Rao, et al., Genotype-specific abnormalities in mitochondrial function associate with distinct profiles of energy metabolism and catecholamine content in pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma, Clin. Cancer Res. 19 (14) (2013) 3787–3795.
- [89] A.J. de Groof, et al., Increased OXPHOS activity precedes rise in glycolytic rate in H-RasV12/E1A transformed fibroblasts that develop a Warburg phenotype, Mol. Cancer 8 (2009) 54.
- [90] J.N. Spelbrink, et al., In vivo functional analysis of the human mitochondrial DNA polymerase POLG expressed in cultured human cells, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (32) (2000) 24818–24828.
- [91] R.K. Naviaux, K.V. Nguyen, POLG mutations associated with Alpers syndrome and mitochondrial DNA depletion, Ann. Neurol. 58 (3) (2005) 491.
- [92] M.I. Ekstrand, et al., Mitochondrial transcription factor A regulates mtDNA copy number in mammals, Hum. Mol. Genet. 13 (9) (2004) 935–944.
- [93] J. Guo, et al., Frequent truncating mutation of TFAM induces mitochondrial DNA depletion and apoptotic resistance in microsatellite-unstable colorectal cancer, Cancer Res. 71 (8) (2011) 2978–2987.
- [94] N.G. Larsson, et al., Mitochondrial transcription factor A is necessary for mtDNA maintenance and embryogenesis in mice, Nat. Genet. 18 (3) (1998) 231–236.
- [95] M. Vermulst, et al., Mitochondrial point mutations do not limit the natural lifespan of mice, Nat. Genet. 39 (4) (2007) 540–543.
- [96] M. Vermulst, et al., DNA deletions and clonal mutations drive premature aging in mitochondrial mutator mice, Nat. Genet. 40 (4) (2008) 392–394.
- [97] H. Li, et al., Genetic modification of survival in tissue-specific knockout mice with mitochondrial cardiomyopathy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (7) (2000) 3467–3472.
- [98] J. Wang, et al., Dilated cardiomyopathy and atrioventricular conduction blocks induced by heart-specific inactivation of mitochondrial DNA gene expression, Nat. Genet. 21 (1) (1999) 133–137.
- [99] R.M. Balliet, et al., Mitochondrial oxidative stress in cancer-associated fibroblasts drives lactate production, promoting breast cancer tumor growth: understanding the aging and cancer connection, Cell Cycle 10 (23) (2011) 4065–4073.
- [100] L.C. Gomes, G. Di Benedetto, L. Scorrano, During autophagy mitochondria elongate, are spared from degradation and sustain cell viability, Nat. Cell Biol. 13 (5) (2011) 589–598.
- [101] M. Falkenberg, N.G. Larsson, C.M. Gustafsson, DNA replication and transcription in mammalian mitochondria, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 76 (2007) 679–699.
- [102] T. Ono, et al., Human cells are protected from mitochondrial dysfunction by complementation of DNA products in fused mitochondria, Nat. Genet. 28 (3) (2001) 272–275.
- [103] R.J. Youle, D.P. Narendra, Mechanisms of mitophagy, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 12 (1) (2011) 9-14.
- [104] R.W. Gilkerson, et al., Mitochondrial autophagy in cells with mtDNA mutations results from synergistic loss of transmembrane potential and mTORC1 inhibition, Hum. Mol. Genet. 21 (5) (2012) 978–990.
- [105] M. Degtyarev, et al., Akt inhibition promotes autophagy and sensitizes PTEN-null tumors to lysosomotropic agents, J. Cell Biol. 183 (1) (2008) 101–116.
- [106] G. Twig, O.S. Shirihai, The interplay between mitochondrial dynamics and mitophagy, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 14 (10) (2011) 1939–1951.
- [107] D. Mishmar, et al., Natural selection shaped regional mtDNA variation in humans, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (1) (2003) 171–176.
- [108] D.C. Wallace, W. Fan, Energetics, epigenetics, mitochondrial genetics, Mitochondrion 10 (1) (2010) 12–31.
- [109] K. Smolkova, et al., Waves of gene regulation suppress and then restore oxidative phosphorylation in cancer cells, Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 43 (7) (2011) 950–968.
- [110] A. Torroni, et al., Classification of European mtDNAs from an analysis of three European populations, Genetics 144 (4) (1996) 1835–1850.
- [111] M.J. Johnson, et al., Radiation of human mitochondria DNA types analyzed by restriction endonuclease cleavage patterns, J. Mol. Evol. 19 (3–4) (1983) 255–271.
- [112] M. Verma, et al., Meeting report: mitochondrial DNA and cancer epidemiology, Cancer Res. 67 (2) (2007) 437–439.
- [113] L.M. Booker, et al., North American white mitochondrial haplogroups in prostate and renal cancer, J. Urol. 175 (2) (2006) 468–472 (discussion 472-3).

- [114] J.A. Canter, A.R. Kallianpur, J.H. Fowke, Re: North American white mitochondrial haplogroups in prostate and renal cancer, J. Urol. 176 (5) (2006) 2308–2309 (author reply 2309).
- [115] R.K. Bai, et al., Mitochondrial genetic background modifies breast cancer risk, Cancer Res. 67 (10) (2007) 4687–4694.
- [116] M. van Oven, M. Kayser, Updated comprehensive phylogenetic tree of global human mitochondrial DNA variation, Hum. Mutat. 30 (2) (2009) E386–E394.
- [117] R.M. Andrews, et al., Reanalysis and revision of the Cambridge reference sequence for human mitochondrial DNA, Nat. Genet. 23 (2) (1999) 147.
- [118] J.A. Canter, et al., Mitochondrial DNA G10398A polymorphism and invasive breast cancer in African-American women, Cancer Res. 65 (17) (2005) 8028-8033.
- [119] K. Darvishi, et al., Mitochondrial DNA G10398A polymorphism imparts maternal Haplogroup N a risk for breast and esophageal cancer, Cancer Lett. 249 (2) (2007) 249–255.
- [120] A. Francis, et al., A mitochondrial DNA variant 10398G>A in breast cancer among South Indians: an original study with meta-analysis, Mitochondrion 13 (6) (2013) 559–565.
- [121] A. Mosquera-Miguel, et al., Is mitochondrial DNA variation associated with sporadic breast cancer risk? Cancer Res. 68 (2) (2008) 623–625 (author reply 624).
- [122] A. Salas, et al., The saga of the many studies wrongly associating mitochondrial DNA with breast cancer, BMC Cancer 14 (2014) 659.
- [123] L. Wang, et al., Mitochondrial genetic polymorphisms and pancreatic cancer risk, Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 16 (7) (2007) 1455–1459.
- [124] F. Navaglia, et al., Mitochondrial DNA D-loop in pancreatic cancer: somatic mutations are epiphenomena while the germline 16519 T variant worsens metabolism and outcome, Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 126 (4) (2006) 593-601.
- [125] T.R. Halfdanarson, et al., Mitochondrial genetic polymorphisms do not predict survival in patients with pancreatic cancer, Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 17 (9) (2008) 2512–2513.
- [126] A.L. Price, et al., Principal components analysis corrects for stratification in genome-wide association studies, Nat. Genet. 38 (8) (2006) 904–909.
- [127] S. Gochhait, et al., Concomitant presence of mutations in mitochondrial genome and p53 in cancer development – a study in north Indian sporadic breast and esophageal cancer patients, J. Int. Cancer 123 (11) (2008) 2580–2586.
- [128] L. He, et al., Somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in adult-onset leukaemia, Leukemia 17 (12) (2003) 2487–2491.
- [129] X. Jin, et al., Relationship between mitochondrial DNA mutations and clinical characteristics in human lung cancer, Mitochondrion 7 (5) (2007) 347–353.
- [130] G. Gasparre, et al., Disruptive mitochondrial DNA mutations in complex I subunits are markers of oncocytic phenotype in thyroid tumors, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (21) (2007) 9001–9006.
- [131] A. Nagy, et al., Somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in human chromophobe renal cell carcinomas, Genes. Chromosomes Cancer 35 (3) (2002) 256–260.
- [132] K. Ishikawa, et al., ROS-generating mitochondrial DNA mutations can regulate tumor cell metastasis, Science 320 (5876) (2008) 661–664.
- [133] T.C. Larman, et al., Spectrum of somatic mitochondrial mutations in five cancers, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109 (35) (2012) 14087–14091.
- [134] C. Calabrese, et al., Respiratory complex I is essential to induce a Warburg profile in mitochondria-defective tumor cells, Cancer Metab. 1 (1) (2013) 11.
- [135] L. Iommarini, et al., Different mtDNA mutations modify tumor progression in dependence of the degree of respiratory complex I impairment, Hum. Mol. Genet. 23 (6) (2014) 1453–1466.
- [136] G. Gasparre, et al., A mutation threshold distinguishes the antitumorigenic effects of the mitochondrial gene MTND1, an oncojanus function, Cancer Res. 71 (19) (2011) 6220–6229.
- [137] E.O. Akgul, et al., MtDNA depletions and deletions may also be important in pathogenesis of lung cancer, Respir. Med. 107 (11) (2013) 1814.
- [138] M. Yu, Generation, function and diagnostic value of mitochondrial DNA copy number alterations in human cancers, Life Sci. 89 (3–4) (2011) 65–71.
- [139] J. Shen, et al., Mitochondrial copy number and risk of breast cancer: a pilot study, Mitochondrion 10 (1) (2010) 62–68.
- [140] J.N. Hofmann, et al., A nested case-control study of leukocyte mitochondrial DNA copy number and renal cell carcinoma in the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian Cancer Screening Trial, Carcinogenesis 35 (5) (2014) 1028–1031.
- [141] Y. Wang, et al., The increase of mitochondrial DNA content in endometrial adenocarcinoma cells: a quantitative study using laser-captured microdissected tissues, Gynecol. Oncol. 98 (1) (2005) 104–110.
- [142] G. Marucci, et al., Oncocytic glioblastoma: a glioblastoma showing oncocytic changes and increased mitochondrial DNA copy number, Hum. Pathol. 44 (9) (2013) 1867–1876.
- [143] W.W. Jiang, et al., Increased mitochondrial DNA content in saliva associated with head and neck cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 11 (7) (2005) 2486–2491.
- [144] Y. Wang, et al., Association of decreased mitochondrial DNA content with ovarian cancer progression, Br. J. Cancer 95 (8) (2006) 1087–1091.
- [145] T. Chen, et al., The mitochondrial DNA 4,977-bp deletion and its implication in copy number alteration in colorectal cancer, BMC Med. Genet. 12 (2011) 8.
- [146] C.S. Lin, et al., The role of mitochondrial DNA alterations in esophageal squamous cell carcinomas, J. Thorac, Cardiovasc, Surg. 139 (1) (2010) 189–197, e4.
 [147] D. Wischer and Link and Mitocher alterational interaction and the state a
- [147] P. Vivekanandan, et al., Mitochondrial mutations in hepatocellular carcinomas and fibrolamellar carcinomas, Modern Pathol. 23 (6) (2010) 790–798.
- [148] T. Mizumachi, et al., Increased distributional variance of mitochondrial DNA content associated with prostate cancer cells as compared with normal prostate cells, Prostate 68 (4) (2008) 408–417.

- [149] E. Mambo, et al., Tumor-specific changes in mtDNA content in human cancer, J. Int. Cancer 116 (6) (2005) 920–924.
- [150] H.C. Lee, et al., Increase of mitochondria and mitochondrial DNA in response to oxidative stress in human cells, Biochem. J. 348 (Pt 2) (2000) 425–432.
- [151] R.L. Correia, et al., Mitochondrial DNA depletion and its correlation with TFAM, TFB1M, TFB2M and POLG in human diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas, Mitochondrion 11 (1) (2011) 48–53.
- [152] M. Yu, Y. Wan, Q. Zou, Decreased copy number of mitochondrial DNA in Ewing's sarcoma, Clin. Chim. Acta 411 (9–10) (2010) 679–683.
- [153] J.G. Dai, et al., Mitochondrial genome microsatellite instability and copy number alteration in lung carcinomas, Asian Pacific J. Cancer Prevent.: APJCP 14 (4) (2013) 2393–2399.
- [154] C.W. Wu, et al., Mitochondrial DNA mutations and mitochondrial DNA depletion in gastric cancer, Genes. Chromosomes Cancer 44 (1) (2005) 19–28.
- [155] D. Meierhofer, et al., Decrease of mitochondrial DNA content and energy metabolism in renal cell carcinoma, Carcinogenesis 25 (6) (2004) 1005–1010.
- [156] J. Xing, et al., Mitochondrial DNA content: its genetic heritability and association with renal cell carcinoma, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 100 (15) (2008) 1104–1112.
- [157] M. Higuchi, et al., Mitochondrial DNA determines androgen dependence in prostate cancer cell lines, Oncogene 25 (10) (2006) 1437–1445.
- [158] F. Cheau-Feng Lin, et al., Mitochondrial DNA copy number is associated with diagnosis and prognosis of head and neck cancer, Biomarkers 19 (4) (2014) 269–274.
- [159] M.A. Lebedeva, J.S. Eaton, G.S. Shadel, Loss of p53 causes mitochondrial DNA depletion and altered mitochondrial reactive oxygen species homeostasis, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1787 (5) (2009) 328–334.
- [160] K.K. Singh, et al., Mutations in mitochondrial DNA polymerase-gamma promote breast tumorigenesis, J. Hum. Genet. 54 (9) (2009) 516–524.
- [161] D. Chandra, K.K. Singh, Genetic insights into OXPHOS defect and its role in cancer, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1807 (6) (2011) 620–625.
- [162] D.K. Woo, et al., Mitochondrial genome instability and ROS enhance intestinal tumorigenesis in APC(Min/+) mice, Am. J. Pathol. 180 (1) (2012) 24–31.
- [163] F. Guerra, et al., Mitochondrial DNA mutation in serous ovarian cancer: implications for mitochondria-coded genes in chemoresistance, J. Clin. Oncol. 30 (36) (2012) pe373–pe378.
- [164] D. Lebrecht, et al., Time-dependent and tissue-specific accumulation of mtDNA and respiratory chain defects in chronic doxorubicin cardiomyopathy, Circulation 108 (19) (2003) 2423–2429.
- [165] N. Garrido, et al., Cisplatin-mediated impairment of mitochondrial DNA metabolism inversely correlates with glutathione levels, Biochem. J. 414 (1) (2008) 93–102.
- [166] O.A. Olivero, et al., Preferential binding of cisplatin to mitochondrial DNA of Chinese hamster ovary cells, Mutat. Res. 346 (4) (1995) 221–230.
- [167] P. Devarajan, et al., Cisplatin-induced apoptosis in auditory cells: role of death receptor and mitochondrial pathways, Hear. Res. 174 (1–2) (2002) 45–54.
- [168] W. Qian, et al., Mitochondrial density determines the cellular sensitivity to cisplatin-induced cell death, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 289 (6) (2005) C1466– C1475.
- [169] Z. Yang, et al., Cisplatin preferentially binds mitochondrial DNA and voltagedependent anion channel protein in the mitochondrial membrane of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: possible role in apoptosis, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (19) (2006) 5817–5825.
- [170] Q. Kong, J.A. Beel, K.O. Lillehei, A threshold concept for cancer therapy, Med. Hypotheses 55 (1) (2000) 29–35.
- [171] Y. Zhou, et al., Free radical stress in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells and its role in cellular sensitivity to ROS-generating anticancer agents, Blood 101 (10) (2003) 4098–4104.
- [172] J.S. Penta, et al., Mitochondrial DNA in human malignancy, Mutat. Res. 488 (2) (2001) 119–133.
- [173] P. Huang, et al., Superoxide dismutase as a target for the selective killing of cancer cells, Nature 407 (6802) (2000) 390–395.
- [174] E.O. Hileman, et al., Intrinsic oxidative stress in cancer cells: a biochemical basis for therapeutic selectivity, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 53 (3) (2004) 209–219.
- [175] M.C. Joiner, A.J. van der Kogel (Eds.), Basic Clinical Radiobiology, 4th ed., Hodder Arnold, London, 2009.
- [176] C. Bernstein, et al., DNA repair/pro-apoptotic dual-role proteins in five major DNA repair pathways: fail-safe protection against carcinogenesis, Mutat. Res. 511 (2) (2002) 145–178.
- [177] D. Ferrari, et al., Differential regulation and ATP requirement for caspase-8 and caspase-3 activation during CD95- and anticancer drug-induced apoptosis, J. Exp. Med. 188 (5) (1998) 979–984.
- [178] K.P. Hopfner, et al., Structural biology of Rad50 ATPase: ATP-driven conformational control in DNA double-strand break repair and the ABC-ATPase superfamily, Cell 101 (7) (2000) 789–800.
- [179] M. Castedo, et al., Cell death by mitotic catastrophe: a molecular definition, Oncogene 23 (16) (2004) 2825–2837.
- [180] G. Kroemer, L. Galluzzi, C. Brenner, Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death, Physiol. Rev. 87 (1) (2007) 99–163.
- [181] C.R. Cloos, et al., Mitochondrial DNA depletion induces radioresistance by suppressing G2 checkpoint activation in human pancreatic cancer cells, Radiat. Res. 171 (5) (2009) 581–587.
- [182] J.T. Tang, et al., Mitochondrial DNA influences radiation sensitivity and induction of apoptosis in human fibroblasts, Anticancer Res. 19 (6B) (1999) 4959–4964.
- [183] J.A. Heddle, J.W. Harris, Letter: Rapid screening of radioprotective drugs in vivo, Radiat. Res. 61 (2) (1975) 350–353.

- [184] H. Yamazaki, et al., Impact of mitochondrial DNA on hypoxic radiation sensitivity in human fibroblast cells and osteosarcoma cell lines, Oncol. Rep. 19 (6) (2008) 1545–1549.
- [185] Y. Yoshioka, et al., Impact of mitochondrial DNA on radiation sensitivity of transformed human fibroblast cells: clonogenic survival, micronucleus formation and cellular ATP level, Radiat. Res. 162 (2) (2004) 143–147.
- [186] R. Kulkarni, et al., Mitochondrial gene expression changes in normal and mitochondrial mutant cells after exposure to ionizing radiation, Radiat. Res. 173 (5) (2010) 635–644.
- [187] R. Kulkarni, R.A. Thomas, J.D. Tucker, Expression of DNA repair and apoptosis genes in mitochondrial mutant and normal cells following exposure to ionizing radiation, Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 52 (3) (2011) 229–237.
- [188] R. Kulkarni, et al., Mitochondrial mutant cells are hypersensitive to ionizing radiation, phleomycin and mitomycin C, Mutat. Res. 663 (1-2) (2009) 46-51.
- [189] V. Bol, et al., Reprogramming of tumor metabolism by targeting mitochondria improves tumor response to irradiation, Acta Oncol. (2014) 1–9.
- [190] T.M. Wardell, et al., Changes in the human mitochondrial genome after treatment of malignant disease, Mutat. Res. 525 (1–2) (2003) 19–27.
- [191] W.W. Jiang, et al., Decreased mitochondrial DNA content in posttreatment salivary rinses from head and neck cancer patients, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (5) (2006) 1564–1569.
- [192] Y. Guo, et al., The use of next generation sequencing technology to study the effect of radiation therapy on mitochondrial DNA mutation, Mutat. Res. 744 (2) (2012) 154–160.
- [193] M.R. Owen, E. Doran, A.P. Halestrap, Evidence that metformin exerts its antidiabetic effects through inhibition of complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, Biochem. J. 348 (Pt 3) (2000) 607–614.
- [194] C.C. Lin, et al., Metformin enhances cisplatin cytotoxicity by suppressing signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 activity independently of the liver kinase B1-AMP-activated protein kinase pathway, Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 49 (2) (2013) 241–250.
- [195] X. Hou, et al., Metformin reduces intracellular reactive oxygen species levels by upregulating expression of the antioxidant thioredoxin via the AMPK-FOXO3 pathway, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 396 (2) (2010) 199–205.
- [196] F.B. Hu, et al., Prospective study of adult onset diabetes mellitus (type 2) and risk of colorectal cancer in women, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 91 (6) (1999) 542–547.
- [197] J.M. Evans, et al., Metformin and reduced risk of cancer in diabetic patients, BMJ 330 (7503) (2005) 1304–1305.
- [198] G. Libby, et al., New users of metformin are at low risk of incident cancer: a cohort study among people with type 2 diabetes, Diabetes Care 32 (9) (2009) 1620–1625.
- [199] B. Li, et al., Inhibition of complex I regulates the mitochondrial permeability transition through a phosphate-sensitive inhibitory site masked by cyclophilin D, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1817 (9) (2012) 1628–1634.
- [200] R.J. Shaw, et al., The LKB1 tumor suppressor negatively regulates mTOR signaling, Cancer Cell 6 (1) (2004) 91–99.
- [201] T. Sanli, et al., Ionizing radiation activates AMP-activated kinase (AMPK): a target for radiosensitization of human cancer cells, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 78 (1) (2010) 221–229.
- [202] C.W. Song, et al., Metformin kills and radiosensitizes cancer cells and preferentially kills cancer stem cells, Sci. Rep. 2 (2012) 362.
- [203] Y. Storozhuk, et al., Metformin inhibits growth and enhances radiation response of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) through ATM and AMPK, Br. J. Cancer 108 (10) (2013) 2021–2032.
- [204] J.H. Cheong, et al., Dual inhibition of tumor energy pathway by 2-deoxyglucose and metformin is effective against a broad spectrum of preclinical cancer models, Mol. Cancer Ther. 10 (12) (2011) 2350–2362.
- [205] I. Ben Sahra, et al., Targeting cancer cell metabolism: the combination of metformin and 2-deoxyglucose induces p53-dependent apoptosis in prostate cancer cells, Cancer Res. 70 (6) (2010) 2465–2475.
- [206] X. Cao, et al., Glucose uptake inhibitor sensitizes cancer cells to daunorubicin and overcomes drug resistance in hypoxia, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 59 (4) (2007) 495–505.
- [207] Y. Liu, et al., A small-molecule inhibitor of glucose transporter 1 downregulates glycolysis, induces cell-cycle arrest, and inhibits cancer cell growth in vitro and in vivo, Mol. Cancer Ther. 11 (8) (2012) 1672–1682.
- [208] T.E. Wood, et al., A novel inhibitor of glucose uptake sensitizes cells to FASinduced cell death, Mol. Cancer Ther. 7 (11) (2008) 3546–3555.
- [209] H. Pelicano, et al., Glycolysis inhibition for anticancer treatment, Oncogene 25 (34) (2006) 4633–4646.
- [210] S. Dasgupta, et al., Mitochondrial DNA mutations in respiratory complex-l in never-smoker lung cancer patients contribute to lung cancer progression and associated with EGFR gene mutation, J. Cell. Physiol. 227 (6) (2012) 2451– 2460.
- [211] J.D. Stewart, et al., POLG mutations cause decreased mitochondrial DNA repopulation rates following induced depletion in human fibroblasts, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1812 (3) (2011) 321–325.
- [212] E. Heinen, et al., Effects of ethidium bromide on chick fibroblasts and mouse Ehrlich tumor cells cultivated in vitro. Cytological and cytochemical observations, Beitrage Pathol. 153 (4) (1974) 353–369.
- [213] L.P. van den Heuvel, J.A. Smeitink, R.J. Rodenburg, Biochemical examination of fibroblasts in the diagnosis and research of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) defects, Mitochondrion 4 (5–6) (2004) 395–401.
- [214] M. Moran, et al., Mitochondrial bioenergetics and dynamics interplay in complex I-deficient fibroblasts, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1802 (5) (2010) 443–453.

- [215] S.M. Khan, R.M. Smigrodzki, R.H. Swerdlow, Cell and animal models of mtDNA biology: progress and prospects, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 292 (2) (2007) C658–C669.
- [216] A. Trifunovic, et al., Premature ageing in mice expressing defective mitochondrial DNA polymerase, Nature 429 (6990) (2004) 417–423.
- [217] K.J. Ahlqvist, et al., Somatic progenitor cell vulnerability to mitochondrial DNA mutagenesis underlies progeroid phenotypes in Polg mutator mice, Cell Metab. 15 (1) (2012) 100–109.
- [218] S.E. Kruse, et al., Mice with mitochondrial complex I deficiency develop a fatal encephalomyopathy, Cell Metab. 7 (4) (2008) 312–320.
- [219] F. Valsecchi, et al., Metabolic consequences of NDUFS4 gene deletion in immortalized mouse embryonic fibroblasts, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1817 (10) (2012) 1925–1936.
- [220] C.A. Ingraham, et al., NDUFS4: creation of a mouse model mimicking a Complex I disorder, Mitochondrion 9 (3) (2009) 204–210.
- [221] Y. Camara, et al., Administration of deoxyribonucleosides or inhibition of their catabolism as a pharmacological approach for mitochondrial DNA depletion syndrome, Hum. Mol. Genet. 23 (9) (2014) 2459–2467.
- [222] E. Gonzalez-Vioque, et al., Limited dCTP availability accounts for mitochondrial DNA depletion in mitochondrial neurogastrointestinal encephalomyopathy (MNGIE), PLoS Genet. 7 (3) (2011) 1002035.
- [223] M. Haraguchi, et al., Targeted deletion of both thymidine phosphorylase and uridine phosphorylase and consequent disorders in mice, Mol. Cell. Biol. 22 (14) (2002) 5212–5221.
- [224] D.A. Nathanson, et al., Co-targeting of convergent nucleotide biosynthetic pathways for leukemia eradication, J. Exp. Med. 211 (3) (2014) 473–486.
- [225] S. Akiyama, et al., The role of thymidine phosphorylase, an angiogenic enzyme, in tumor progression, Cancer Sci. 95 (11) (2004) 851–857.
- [226] M.I. Koukourakis, et al., Different patterns of stromal and cancer cell thymidine phosphorylase reactivity in non-small-cell lung cancer: impact on tumour neoangiogenesis and survival, Br. J. Cancer 77 (10) (1998) 1696–1703.
- [227] A. Moghaddam, et al., Thymidine phosphorylase is angiogenic and promotes tumor growth, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (4) (1995) 998-1002.
- [228] A. Bronckaers, et al., The dual role of thymidine phosphorylase in cancer development and chemotherapy, Med. Res. Rev. 29 (6) (2009) 903–953.
- [229] D. Hua, et al., Thymidylate synthase and thymidine phosphorylase gene expression as predictive parameters for the efficacy of 5-fluorouracil-based adjuvant chemotherapy for gastric cancer, World J. Gastroenterol.: WJG 13 (37) (2007) 5030–5034.
- [230] V. Guarcello, et al., Suppression of thymidine phosphorylase expression by promoter methylation in human cancer cells lacking enzyme activity, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 62 (1) (2008) 85–96.
- [231] K.V. Kosuri, et al., An epigenetic mechanism for capecitabine resistance in mesothelioma, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 391 (3) (2010) 1465–1470.
- [232] S.S. Hecht, Cigarette smoking and lung cancer: chemical mechanisms and approaches to prevention, Lancet Oncol. 3 (8) (2002) 461–469.
- [233] L. Johnson, et al., Somatic activation of the K-ras oncogene causes early onset lung cancer in mice, Nature 410 (6832) (2001) 1111–1116.
- [234] L. Artuso, et al., Mitochondrial DNA metabolism in early development of zebrafish (Danio rerio), Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1817 (7) (2012) 1002–1011.
- [235] J. Park, et al., Mitochondrial dysfunction in Drosophila PINK1 mutants is complemented by parkin, Nature 441 (7097) (2006) 1157–1161.
- [236] C. Mori, T. Takanami, A. Higashitani, Maintenance of mitochondrial DNA by the Caenorhabditis elegans ATR checkpoint protein ATL-1, Genetics 180 (1) (2008) 681–686.
- [237] K. Ezawa, et al., Evolutionary patterns of recently emerged animal duplogs, Genome Biol. Evol. 3 (2011) 1119–1135.

- [238] H. Liu, et al., Hypersensitization of tumor cells to glycolytic inhibitors, Biochemistry 40 (18) (2001) 5542–5547.
- [239] J.C. Maher, A. Krishan, T.J. Lampidis, Greater cell cycle inhibition and cytotoxicity induced by 2-deoxy-p-glucose in tumor cells treated under hypoxic vs aerobic conditions, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 53 (2) (2004) 116–122.
- [240] J.L. Mansi, et al., A phase II clinical and pharmacokinetic study of Lonidamine in patients with advanced breast cancer, Br. J. Cancer 64 (3) (1991) 593–597.
- [241] A. Lupescu, et al., Induction of apoptotic erythrocyte death by rotenone, Toxicology 300 (3) (2012) 132–137.
 [242] A.J. Lehman, The major toxic actions of insecticides, Bull. N. Y. Acad. Med. 25 (6)
- [242] A.J. Lemman, the major toxic actions of insecticides, Bull. N. Y. Acad. Med. 25 (6), (1949) 382–387.
- [243] O. Jalling, C. Olsen, The effects of metformin compared to the effects of phenformin on the lactate production and the metabolism of isolated parenchymal rat liver cell, Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. (Copenh.) 54 (5) (1984) 327–332.
- [244] M.V. Appleyard, et al., Phenformin as prophylaxis and therapy in breast cancer xenografts, Br. J. Cancer 106 (6) (2012) 1117–1122.
- [245] P. Yuan, et al., Phenformin enhances the therapeutic benefit of BRAF(V600E) inhibition in melanoma, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110 (45) (2013) 18226– 18231.
- [246] L.J. Jacobs, et al., Transmission and prenatal diagnosis of the T9176C mitochondrial DNA mutation, Mol. Hum. Reprod. 11 (3) (2005) 223–228.
- [247] B.J. van Den Bosch, et al., Mutation analysis of the entire mitochondrial genome using denaturing high performance liquid chromatography, Nucleic Acids Res. 28 (20) (2000) E89.
- [248] H.E. White, et al., Accurate detection and quantitation of heteroplasmic mitochondrial point mutations by pyrosequencing, Genet. Test. 9 (3) (2005) 190–199.
- [249] B. Fromenty, et al., Efficient and specific amplification of identified partial duplications of human mitochondrial DNA by long PCR, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1308 (3) (1996) 222–230.
- [250] P. Reynier, Y. Malthiery, Accumulation of deletions in MtDNA during tissue aging: analysis by long PCR, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 217 (1) (1995) 59–67.
- [251] L. He, et al., Detection and quantification of mitochondrial DNA deletions in individual cells by real-time PCR, Nucleic Acids Res. 30 (14) (2002) e68.
- [252] L.J. Jacobs, et al., Pearson syndrome and the role of deletion dimers and duplications in the mtDNA, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 27 (1) (2004) 47–55.
- [253] M. Vermulst, J.H. Bielas, L.A. Loeb, Quantification of random mutations in the mitochondrial genome, Methods 46 (4) (2008) 263–268.
- [254] S.D. Taylor, et al., Targeted enrichment and high-resolution digital profiling of mitochondrial DNA deletions in human brain, Aging Cell 13 (1) (2014) 29–38.
- [255] Y. He, et al., Heteroplasmic mitochondrial DNA mutations in normal and tumour cells, Nature 464 (7288) (2010) 610–614.
- [256] A. Maitra, et al., The Human MitoChip: a high-throughput sequencing microarray for mitochondrial mutation detection, Genome Res. 14 (5) (2004) 812–819.
- [257] R.G. van Eijsden, et al., Chip-based mtDNA mutation screening enables fast and reliable genetic diagnosis of OXPHOS patients, Genet. Med. 8 (10) (2006) 620–627.
- [258] R.W. Taylor, et al., Selective inhibition of mutant human mitochondrial DNA replication in vitro by peptide nucleic acids, Nat. Genet. 15 (2) (1997) 212–215.
- [259] T. Oltersdorf, et al., An inhibitor of Bcl-2 family proteins induces regression of solid tumours, Nature 435 (7042) (2005) 677–681.
- [260] L. van den Heuvel, J. Smeitink, The oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) system: nuclear genes and human genetic diseases, Bioessays 23 (6) (2001) 518–525.
- [261] M.G. Vander Heiden, L.C. Cantley, C.B. Thompson, Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation, Science 324 (5930) (2009) 1029–1033.